
MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

November 2, 2022 
2:00 p.m. 

Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 
 
 

    

AGENDA 
 
 
 

I. Call to Order Barbara Sowada 

 A.  Roll Call  

B. Pledge of Allegiance   

C. Our Mission and Vision Marty Kelsey 

D. Mission Moment Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer 

II. Agenda (For Action)  Barbara Sowada 

III. Minutes (For Action) Barbara Sowada 

IV. Community Communication  Barbara Sowada 

V. Old Business Barbara Sowada 

A. Professional Practice Review Plan (For Review) Kerry Downs, Medical Staff Services Director 

 Kara Jackson, Director of Quality, Accreditation, Patient Safety & Risk 

VI. New Business (Review and Questions/Comments) Barbara Sowada 

A. FY22 Audit Report (For Action) Darryn McGarvey and Dan Deyle/CliftonLarsonAllen 

B. Employee Policies – Conflict of Interest (For Review) Suzan Campbell, In House Counsel 

C. Executive Oversight and Compensation Charter Barbara Sowada 

VII. Chief Executive Officer Report  Irene Richardson 

VIII.  Committee Reports 

A. Quality Committee Taylor Jones 

B. Human Resources Committee  Kandi Pendleton 

C. Finance & Audit Committee Ed Tardoni  

1. Bad Debt (For Action) 

2. I.S. Report 

3. Finance & Audit Committee Meeting Information 

D. Building & Grounds Committee Marty Kelsey  

E. Foundation Board Taylor Jones 

F. Compliance Committee Kandi Pendleton 

G. Governance Committee Barbara Sowada 

H. Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee Barbara Sowada 

I. Joint Conference Committee Barbara Sowada 

IX. Board Education Barbara Sowada 

 A.   Supply Chain: Mitigating Risk and Disruption Beyond the Pandemic 

X. Medical Staff Report Dr. Brianne Crofts, Medical Staff President  

XI. Good of the Order           Barbara Sowada 

1/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

November 2, 2022 
2:00 p.m. 

Classrooms 1, 2 & 3 
 
 

    

AGENDA 
 
 
 

XII. Executive Session (W.S. §16-4-405(a)(ix)) Barbara Sowada 

XIII. Action Following Executive Session Barbara Sowada 

XIV. Adjourn Barbara Sowada 

 

 

2/173



OUR MISSIONOUR MISSION  

Compassionate care for 

every life we touch. 

OUR VISIONOUR VISION  

To be our community’s trusted 

healthcare leader. 

OUR VALUESOUR VALUES  

Be Kind 

Be Respectful 

Be Accountable 

Work Collaboratively 

Embrace Excellence 

 

OUR STRATEGIESOUR STRATEGIES  

Patient Experience 

Quality & Safety 

Workplace Experience 

Growth, Opportunity & Community 

Financial Stewardship 

3/173



 

MINUTES FROM THE REGULAR MEETING 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

October 5, 2022 
 

 

The Board of Trustees of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County met in regular session at Castle 

Rock Medical Center in Green River, Wyoming, on October 5, 2022, at 2:00 p.m. with Dr. Barbara 

Sowada, President, presiding. 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

Dr. Sowada welcomed everyone and called the meeting to order.  

 

Dr. Sowada requested a roll call and announced there was a quorum. The following Trustees were 

present: Mr. Taylor Jones, Mr. Marty Kelsey, Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Dr. Barbara Sowada, and Mr. 

Ed Tardoni. 

 

Officially present during the meeting: Ms. Irene Richardson, Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Geoff 

Phillips, Legal Counsel. 

 

Dr. Sowada welcomed guests Ms. Mary Thoman and Mr. Jeff Smith from the Sweetwater County 

Board of County Commissioners and thanked them for attending.  

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Dr. Sowada led the attendees in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

Our Mission and Vision 

 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton read aloud the mission and vision statements.  

 

Mission Moment 

 

Ms. Richardson introduced Mr. Michael Stromberg, Director of Dining Services from Unidine. 

She shared various favorable comments given to her at a recent local event. The comments were 

for different areas of the Hospital. Ms. Richardson said we received a stack of letters from the 

Green River 6th Ward Young Women, read several aloud, and said the letters will be shared with 

staff.   

 

AGENDA 

 

The motion to approve the agenda with the addition of an item under “New Business” was made 

by Mr. Jones; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

  

4/173



 

 

Minutes of the October 5, 2022 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 2 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The motion to approve the minutes of the September 14, 2022, regular meeting as presented was 

made by Mr. Jones; second by Mr. Tardoni. Motion carried. The motion to approve the minutes 

of the September 21, 2022, emergency meeting as presented was made by Mr. Jones; second by 

Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. The motion to approve the minutes of the September 22, 2022, 

special meeting as presented was made by Mr. Jones; second by Mr. Tardoni. Ms. Pendleton said 

she was not in attendance and abstained. Motion carried.  

 

COMMUNITY COMMUNICATION 

 

There were no comments. 

 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

Plan for Providing Patient Care Services and Scopes of Care 
 

Dr. Ann Marie Clevenger, Chief Nursing Officer, reviewed the plan. The motion to approve the 

plan with typographical changes as noted was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. Jones. Motion 

carried. 

 

Think Tank Update 

 

Mr. Tardoni provided a Think Tank project update. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

Human Resources Charter 

 

Ms. Pendleton reviewed the changes. The motion to approve the charter as presented was made by 

Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Kelsey. Motion carried.  

 

Credentials Committee 

 

Ms. Kerry Downs, Director of Medical Staff Services, reviewed updated applications. The motion 

to approve the Physician Reappointment Application, Non-Physician Provider Initial Application, 

and Non-Physician Provider Reappointment Application as presented was made by Mr. Tardoni; 

second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried. 

 

Utilization Management Plan 

 

Dr. Clevenger said the plan has been approved by the Utilization Management Committee, Quality 

Committee, and Medical Executive Committee. The motion to approve the plan as presented was 

made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Jones. Motion carried.  

 

  

5/173



 

 

Minutes of the October 5, 2022 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 3 

Recruiting Grant from the State 

 

Ms. Tiffany Marshall, Foundation Executive Director, reviewed the grant opportunity. The motion 

to approve moving forward with the grant application and allowing the Board President to sign a 

resolution of support by the governing body was made by Mr. Jones; second by Ms. Pendleton. 

Motion carried.  

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 

 

Ms. Richardson provided a strategic plan update. Person-centered care workshops and 

communicating with empathy workshops continue. The Patient and Family Advisory Council 

continues monthly meetings and is a wonderful group from our community committed to helping 

us improve the patient experience. Wellness Wednesdays at noon weekly started and anyone is 

welcome to attend. We are focusing on the workforce to be engaged and well so we can take care 

of our patients. Ms. Karen Andazola from Planetree will be onsite the week of October 24 to help 

us prepare to move forward to our next phase in our person-centered care culture. The Culture of 

Safety Survey will be administered in October. We extended our Employee Satisfaction Survey a 

week so that moved the safety survey out to begin October 24. Ms. Richardson said we cannot do 

what we need to do without the help of the staff. We are focusing on continuing to “re-recruit” 

staff. We are working on a plan to increase days of cash on hand. Ms. Richardson said we are 

focusing on many items in the income statement. We changed our electronic health record in April, 

so we have some accounts receivable in our old system and we are working on collecting on those 

accounts. We are looking at efficiencies and lowering expenses. Ms. Richardson said we have 

plans in place to improve our financial performance. Some things are out of our control, however. 

Inflation and supply chain issues continue to impact us. We are working on plans to improve our 

bottom line. Ms. Richardson commended staff for coming through the pandemic. With support 

from the Board, we completed an analysis of wages and are taking steps to hire our own staff and 

decrease contract staff. Our contract staff expense last year was $7M. We are starting to see those 

expenses come down. CliftonLarsonAllen will review our system and charge capture. Ms. 

Richardson will present a Town Hall October 28. We have submitted two projects to the Wyoming 

SLIB. Our applications will be reviewed at a special meeting in early November. There have been 

over 200 applications made for over $200M with only $60M available. Ms. Richardson thanked 

Ms. Marshall for the excellent job she did on preparing our SLIB grant applications as well as the 

entire team involved in the process. Ms. Richardson said she attended the Wyoming Hospital 

Association annual meeting and the American Hospital Association regional policy meeting. She 

said the focus is on financials nationwide. Workforce and behavior/mental health, and workplace 

violence are priorities. We have been able to stay open, not stop any services, and we did not lay 

off any staff.  
 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

Quality Committee 
 

Mr. Jones said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

Human Resources Committee 

 

Ms. Pendleton said the information is in the meeting packet. 

6/173



 

 

Minutes of the October 5, 2022 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 4 

 

Finance and Audit Committee 

 

Mr. Tardoni said information is in the meeting packet. 

 

Capital Expenditure Request: Ms. Tami Love, Chief Financial Officer, reviewed changes to the 

application previously approved. The motion to approve FY 23-4 as presented plus a 10% 

contingency as discussed was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Jones. Motion carried.   

 

Bad Debt: The motion to approve the net potential bad debt of -$127,617.38 as presented by Mr. 

Ron Cheese, Director of Patient Financial Services, was made by Mr. Tardoni; second by Mr. 

Jones. Motion carried. 

 

Building and Grounds 

 

Mr. Kelsey said the information is in the meeting packet. 

 

Foundation 

 

Ms. Marshall provided an update.  

 

Compliance Committee 

 

Ms. Pendleton said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

Governance Committee 

Dr. Sowada said the information is in the meeting packet.  

 

Executive Oversight and Compensation and Joint Conference Committee 

 

Dr. Sowada said the groups have not met. 

 

CONTRACT REVIEW 

 

There were no comments. 

 

BOARD EDUCATION 

 

Financial Turn Around During Existential Crisis & the Purpose Of A System Is What It 

Does Not What It Claims To Do 

 

The Trustees shared comments.  

 

  

7/173



 

 

Minutes of the October 5, 2022 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 5 

MEDICAL STAFF REPORT 

 

Ms. Downs shared an update provided by Dr. Brianne Crofts, President of the Medical Staff. The 

Surgery Department met and elected Dr. Benjamin Jensen as the Chair and Dr. Tony Pedri as Vice-

Chair. The Medicine Department will meet in the next week and conduct elections.   

 

GOOD OF THE ORDER 

Ms. Pendleton commented how nice it is to have the hospital front doors open again. 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

The motion to go into executive session was made by Mr. Jones; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion 

carried. Dr. Sowada said there would be a ten-minute break.  

 

RECONVENE INTO REGULAR SESSION 
 

At 5:23 p.m., the motion to leave executive session and return to regular session was made by Mr. 

Jones; second by Ms. Pendleton. Motion carried.  

 

ACTION FOLLOWING EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

Approval of Privileges 
 

The motion to approve the list of clinical privileges and appointments to the Medical Staff as 

reviewed in executive session was made by Ms. Pendleton; second by Mr. Jones. Motion carried. 

 

Credentials Committee Recommendations from September 13, 2022 

1. Initial Appointment to Associate Staff (1 year) 

 Dr. Arion Lochner, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Brian Opferman, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

 Dr. Anne Shirley Jones, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

2. Initial Appointment to Active Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Jonathan Roddy, Emergency Medicine (U of U) 

3. Reappointment to Active Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Banu Symington, Hematology/Oncology 

 Dr. Tony Pedri, Orthopaedic Surgery 

4. Reappointment to Consulting Staff (2 years) 

 Dr. Libo Wang, Cardiovascular Disease (U of U) 

 Dr. Anees Daud, Cardiovascular Disease (U of U) 

5. Reappointment to NPP Staff (2 years) 

 Jacquelyn Barnhart, Oncology Nurse Practitioner 

6. New Business 

 Physician Reappointment Application 

 Non-Physician Provider Initial Application   

 Non-Physician Provider Reappointment Application 

 

  

8/173



 

 

Minutes of the October 5, 2022 Board of Trustees Meeting 

Page 6 

ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 5:24 p.m.   

      

 

         

  ___________________________________  

  Dr. Barbara Sowada, President 

Attest: 

 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Ms. Kandi Pendleton, Secretary 

9/173



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 12323902 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

Medical Staff 

Reg. 
Standards 

TJC MS 
05.01.01, TJC 
MS 06.01.05,
TJC MS 
08.01.01, TJC 
MS 08.01.03,
TJC MS 
09.01.01 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer 
Review) 

Statement of Purpose 

Plan 
I. Objectives 

The goal of the Professional Practice Review (Medical Staff Peer Review) Plan is to outline 
processes to: 

A. Assist in driving healthcare quality, defined as "the degree to which health care 
services for individuals and populations increase the likelihood of desired health 
outcomes and are consistent with current professional knowledge " (Agency for 
Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ], 2018; Institute of Medicine [IOM], 1990). 
Refer to MHSC's Performance Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) Plan 

B. Provide a mechanism for review of charts and ongoing evaluation of Practitioner 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC) Medical Staff professional practice review (peer 
review) process provides a standardized mechanism to measure, assess, improve, and evaluate medical 
staff member's performance, professionalism, competency, and behaviors through the conduct of peer 
and chart review. The process involves monitoring and analyzing data, along with identifying trends and/
or adverse outcomes, which may impact patient safety and quality of care. This process provides for 
continuous quality improvement as well as opportunity to address any potential problems in a timely 
manner. The information identified through this process is also factored into decisions to grant clinical 
privileges through the credentialing process. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 17

10/173



DRAFT

clinical competence and professional performance through systematic, data-driven 
processes. 

C. Identify and resolve Practitioner performance and clinical competency issues. 

D. Comply with The Joint Commission standards for Medical Staff Ongoing 
Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE) and Focused Professional Practice 
Evaluation (FPPE). 

E. Create a culture of accountability. 

F. Assist in organizational process improvement strategies based on identified 
opportunities and in congruence with MHSC's PIPS Plan and organizational strategic 
plan. 

G. Continuously improve processes to ensure safe, timely, effective, efficient, patient-
centered, and equitable care delivery. 

II. Definitions 

A. Medical Staff: The group of all Practitioners privileged through the organized 
medical staff process who are subject to the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules, and 
Regulations. Nurse practitioners, physician assistants and other Non-Physician 
Providers are considered part of the Medical Staff per MHSC's Rules & Regulations 
and will be referred to as Practitioners. 

B. Professional performance review/peer review:  A process that allows the Medical 
Staff to evaluate an individual's professional practice and/or system issues that may 
affect the delivery of quality care. The process includes measuring Practitioner 
professional performance based on metrics as defined by the Medical Staff (see 
attached Professional Performance Review Indicators), in addition to quality events 
identified through other processes (see Medical Staff Peer Review Process Flow). 
The evaluation may identify systems or processes of care that do not adequately 
protect against foreseeable human error. These system opportunities will be referred 
to the Performance Improvement and Patient Safety (PIPS) Committee as 
appropriate for evaluation and improvement interventions. 

C. Professional Practice Evaluation Committee (PPEC): A multidisciplinary peer review 
committee authorized to conduct peer review for the Medical Staff. This committee 
will also function to review and monitor the ongoing evaluation of Practitioner 
performance trends and provide recommendations and follow-up as appropriate. 

D. Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE): A summary of ongoing data 
collected for the purpose of assessing a Practitioner's clinical competence and 
professional behavior. 

E. Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE): A systematic process to ensure 
there is sufficient information available to evaluate a Practitioner's professional 
competence. A focused review can be requested by the Credentials Committee, 
PPEC, or the Medical Executive Committee (MEC). FPPE occurs: 

1. When clinical privileges are initially granted to a Practitioner who is new to 
the organization. 

2. As the result of data evaluated during OPPE. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 17

11/173



DRAFT

3. When an existing Practitioner requests a new privilege. 

4. When additional data or reports indicate the need for a focused review. 

F. Care ratings: Practitioner (as determined by the PPEC or MEC) 

1. Care Appropriate: Despite a complication, adverse outcome, or other 
question regarding the quality delivery of care, it is determined that a 
majority of peers would have responded similarly under similar 
circumstances. This designation adjudicates that there was no clear 
deviation from standard of practice. 

2. Improvement Opportunity: Care that involved simple errors in diagnosis, 
treatment or judgment, or inadvertently doing other than what should have 
been done: a slip, lapse, or mistake. 

3. At Risk Behavior: Care that requires education or coaching to prevent 
recurrence, or behavioral choice that increases risk where risk is not 
recognized or is mistakenly believed to be justified. 

4. Reckless Behavior: Care that suggests reckless disregard of the 
Practitioner's duty to the patient through gross negligence, general 
incompetence or actual intent to provide substandard care, or behavioral 
choice to consciously disregard a substantial and unjustifiable risk. 

G. Care ratings: System Improvement (as determined by the PPEC or MEC) 

1. System Improvement Opportunity: Designates an event as resulting at 
least in part from an opportunity to improve the care system to reduce 
caregiver errors, mitigate the effects of any future errors, or otherwise 
better support the care process. This rating will apply whenever a system 
improvement opportunity is identified, independent of any individual 
Practitioner's care rating. 

H. Professional Behavior: As defined in MHSC's Behavior Standards, the Code of Caring, 
a high standard of professional behavior, ethics, and integrity is expected of each 
individual member of the Medical Staff at MHSC in order to promote an environment 
conducive to providing the highest quality of care. The standards expected to be 
practiced at MHSC include: Courtesy, Accountability, Respect, Integrity, Nurturing, 
and Growth.  In addition to the Code of Caring, Medical Staff will adhere to the 
Medical Staff Code of Conduct found within the Medical Staff Bylaws. Violations of 
the Code of Caring and/or Medical Staff Code of Conduct will be addressed by the 
Medical Executive Committee. 

I. Medical Staff Quality Reviewer:  A group of reviewers appointed by each department 
chair to perform an initial case review to determine if the case requires peer review 
by the PPEC.The group of reviewers may rotate every six months. 

J. Conflict of Interest:  A member of the medical staff requested to perform peer review 
may have a conflict of interest if they may not be able to render an unbiased opinion. 
An automatic conflict of interest would result if the Practitioner is involved in any 
way in the case under review. Relative conflicts of interest are either due to a 
Practitioner’s involvement in the patient’s care not related to the issues under review 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 3 of 17

12/173



DRAFT

or because of a relationship with the Practitioner involved as a direct competitor, 
partner, or key referral source. It is the responsibility of the PPEC to determine on a 
case by case basis if a potential conflict exists and if substantial enough to prevent 
the individual from participating in the review. If a potential conflict exists, the 
individual may not participate or be present during peer review discussions or 
decisions other than to provide specific information requested. 

K. Low volume/no activity Practitioners or specialties: Alternate data collection 
methods may be developed and used as approved by the Professional Practice 
Evaluation Committee for Practitioners in low volume specialties or specialties in 
which objective data is unable to be obtained. 

L. Peer:  An individual practicing in the same profession and who has expertise in the 
appropriate subject matter. The level of subject matter expertise required to provide 
meaningful evaluation of a Practitioner’s performance will determine what 
“practicing in the same profession” means on a case by case basis. (Example: for 
quality issues related to general medical care, a physician may review the care of 
another physician. For specialty-specific clinical issues, such as evaluating the 
technique of a specialized surgical procedure, a peer is an individual who is well-
trained and competent in that surgical specialty). 

III. Review Process 

A. 

B. 

Different types of indicators are utilized to identify potential quality concerns. The 
indicator type dictates the action required. See the Medical Staff Peer Review 
Process Flow. All review indicators and rate thresholds will be reviewed annually, at a 
minimum, by the PPEC and/or appropriate specialties. 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

All reviews will be directly documented within the quality management system. 

Indicators 

Rule indicators will initiate a peer review by PPEC. The PPEC will be 
notified when a rule has been triggered. Additionally, the individual 
Practitioner will be notified when a rule indicator has been triggered 
through the process of OPPE. 

Rate indicators will be trended and added to OPPE profiles.  The PPEC will 
review peers with outlier rate indicators twice per year (every 6 months) at 
a minimum and provide feedback, education, initiate a performance 
improvement plan, or recommend FPPE with the individual as appropriate. 
Refer to the OPPE process flow.  

Review indicators will be screened through an initial case review by a 
designated Medical Staff Quality Reviewer. If the case requires further 
action, follow-up, or review, it will be reviewed by the PPEC as a peer review 
case. 

Other quality events will initiate a peer review and be referred directly to 
PPEC. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 4 of 17

13/173



DRAFT

5. 

C. 

1. 

2. 

3. 

a. 

4. 

a. 

b. 

D. 

1. 

2. 

If a sentinel event is identified during the peer review process, the 
sentinel event policy will be enacted. 

Initial Case Review (performed by Medical Staff Quality Reviewer) 

An initial case review of a quality event will occur by a designated Medical 
Staff Quality Reviewer if the event is triggered by a review indicator (see 
attached list of Medical Staff Review Indicators). 

Six Medical Staff Quality Reviewers will be appointed by the Chief of Staff. 
Three will be appointed from the Medicine Department and three from the 
Surgery Department. In the event a designated Medical Staff Quality 
Reviewer is unable to fulfill the term, a new reviewer will be appointed by 
the Chief of Staff, as a replacement. 

Medical Staff Quality Reviewers will be notified via quality management 
system of cases needing review as they occur. 

Review of case and outcome determination is expected to be 
completed within 2 weeks of notification. 

The initial case review outcome will determine if referral to the PPEC for 
peer review of the case in question is needed. 

If care is appropriate, a summary of findings and final 
conclusion is documented in the quality management system. 
The case will be documented and trended via the quality 
management system by the Quality Department. Trended results 
will be located on the OPPE profiles. 

If the case needs further follow-up, investigation, or it is unable 
to determine appropriateness of care, a summary of findings 
and conclusion of further review needed is documented in the 
quality management system. The case will be documented and 
referred to the PPEC via the quality management system by the 
Quality Department. Cases requiring further review may include 
identification of system of care opportunities. Final conclusions 
of the review will be located on OPPE profiles. 

Peer Review (performed by PPEC) 

PPEC will meet ten (10) times per year, ideally monthly. They may meet 
more or less often, as needed, dependent on the volume of cases requiring 
review by the committee.  It is the responsibility of PPEC members to 
review cases prior to set meeting date for discussion and final outcome 
determination at PPEC meeting.   

The PPEC will be provided a list of cases and/or Practitioners for review 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 5 of 17

14/173



DRAFT

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

a. 

i. 

ii. 

a. 

iii. 

a. 

iv. 

a. 

b. 

c. 

prior to the meeting. 

All reviews from PPEC will be documented directly in the quality 
management system using a secure log-in by a designated member of the 
committee or may be transcribed from meeting minutes by Quality. 

A summary of findings will be documented on all cases for peer review. 

Outcome determinations for final conclusions must be made by a 
consensus of members present at PPEC. 

The PPEC reserves the right to halt the peer review process for a 
Practitioner that has been involuntarily terminated. Judgment of whether 
or not the case needs to be reviewed is left up to PPEC. 

The PPEC will review all cases for peer review in which rule indicators are 
met, those referred by Medical Staff Quality Reviewers following initial 
case review and cases referred by other departments. 

Practitioner standard of care rating will include the following 
outcomes: 

Care Appropriate - case closed/trended 

Improvement Opportunity - education, follow-up, FPPE, 
etc. provided or delegated to another peer to provide 
to the Practitioner in question. 

Case can be closed in the quality 
management system once education, 
follow-up, FPPE, etc. is provided and 
documented with date. 

At Risk Behavior - MEC notified of outcome finding and 
recommendation for next action. 

Case can be closed after MEC final 
conclusion is made. 

Reckless Behavior - referred to MEC with summary of 
findings and recommendations for appropriate action. 

Case can be closed after MEC final 
conclusion is made. 

In the event that PPEC is unable to determine the final outcome, 
the case will be referred to MEC for evaluation and final 
determination. 

If additional follow-up, referral, etc. is required prior to making a 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 6 of 17

15/173



DRAFT

8. 

a. 

i. 

9. 

E. 

1. Patient Complaints/Grievances will be entered into the electronic 
occurrence reporting system. 

2. If the Grievance Committee determines a case needs review for behavioral 
issues, they will forward the case to PPEC, first.   

3. PPEC will determine whether or not the standard of care was met for the 
grievance case.  The case will then be forwarded to MEC to review for the 
behavioral issues. 

4. Medical Staff Services (MSS) will request the practitioner’s peer review file 
to determine if he or she had any other grievances (within the past 24 
months.) MSS will draft a summary of any grievances for review at MEC. 

5. The grievance (and summary of past grievances) will then go to MEC and 
will be discussed during executive session. 

6. MEC will discuss and decide on appropriate action for the grievance. 

7. If the Grievance Committee determines that a case needs to be reviewed 
for clinical competence, they will follow the steps in section D, above. 

F. 

1. 

final conclusion the case is kept open and referred to the 
appropriate department. The case will be closed and trended 
upon final conclusion. 

Findings in which care is appropriate, yet system of care opportunities are 
identified is a possibility will be referred to the PIPS Committee for 
organizational improvement interventions. Medical staff input, 
engagement, and support for system of care resolutions will be expected. 
The solution/plan for improvement developed by the PIPS Committee will 
be reported back to PPEC as necessary. 

System improvement care rating will include the following: 

System Improvement Opportunity - education, follow-
up, etc. provided or delegated to appropriate 
department 

Findings in which nursing, essential services, or other departments are 
needing to review or follow-up can be referred to the PIPS committee or 
appropriate individual department as necessary. It is the responsibility of 
the PPEC to communicate this need with appropriate department/
committee. Medical staff input, engagement, and support for resolutions 
will be expected. 

Patient Complaints and Grievances 

External Reviews 

The PPEC or MEC may require use of external peer review consultation in 
cases including, but not limited to: 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 7 of 17

16/173



DRAFT

a. The absence of an appropriate Practitioner able to render an 
opinion regarding a peer review or FPPE. 

b. The presence of a significant conflict of interest. 

c. Potential for litigation. 

d. Ambiguity, especially when dealing with vague or conflicting 
recommendations from internal reviewers. 

2. External reviews can be initiated by Medical Executive Committee after 
appropriate referral from PPEC and inability to determine a final 
conclusion. 

3. 

G. 

H. 

I. 

J. 

IV. OPPE 

A. Ongoing professional practice evaluation (OPPE) is factored into the decision to 
maintain, revise, limit, or revoke existing medical staff privileges. The organized 
medical staff are responsible for defining the OPPE process. 

B. Department Leadership will do the following: 

1. Perform at least two OPPE's on all designated staff members every 24 
months, but not longer than 12 months apart. This will be performed by 
the Vice Chair of each Department, through their membership on PPEC.  If 
there are negative trends or concerns about an Individual Practitioner, the 
Vice Chair will communicate that information to the Department Chair. 

2. Use the types of data and evaluation processes developed by the 
departments and approved by the organized medical staff. 

C. The following general competencies are included in OPPE : 

1. Patient Care: Practitioners are expected to provide patient care that is 
compassionate, appropriate and effective for the promotion of health, 
prevention of illness, treatment of disease and care at the end of life. 

If a case is sent for external review by another department within MHSC, 
results of the external review as they pertain to individual Practitioner 
performance are requested to be presented to the PPEC and enter into 
MHSC's internal peer review process if indicated. 

Practitioners performing reviews will not review their own cases. 

Practitioners serving on PPEC in which their case is being reviewed will not take part 
in the review process and outcome determination. 

The PPEC may request the Practitioner in question to present the case to PPEC 
before an outcome determination can be made. 

Whenever possible, a Practitioner involved as a member of the MEC, PPEC, or any 
other ad hoc committee tasked with peer review should vote in only one (1) level of 
the decision-making process. In situations in which this is not possible, Practitioners 
are expected to limit their involvement in multiple levels of review. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 8 of 17

17/173



DRAFT

2. Medical/Clinical Knowledge: Practitioners are expected to demonstrate 
knowledge of established and evolving biomedical, clinical and social 
sciences, and the application of their knowledge to patient care and the 
education of others. 

3. Practice-based Learning and Improvement: Practitioners are expected to 
be able to use scientific evidence and methods to investigate, evaluate and 
improve patient care practices. 

4. Interpersonal and Communication Skills: Practitioners are expected to 
demonstrate interpersonal and communication skills that enable them to 
establish and maintain professional relationships with patients, families 
and other members of healthcare interdisciplinary teams. 

5. Professionalism: Practitioners are expected to demonstrate behaviors that 
reflect a commitment to continuous professional development, ethical 
practice, an understanding and sensitivity to diversity, and a responsible 
attitude toward patients, families, colleagues, their profession, and society. 

6. Systems-based Practice: Practitioners are expected to demonstrate both 
an understanding of the contexts and systems in which healthcare is 
provided, and the ability to apply this knowledge to improve and optimize 
healthcare. 

7. Stewardship of Resources: Practitioners are expected to demonstrate an 
appropriate use and allocation of resources. 

D. The Quality Department will be responsible for compiling the OPPE profiles based on 
data available in MHSC's electronic data systems. 

1. OPPE profiles will include Practitioner level metrics for Medical Staff 
indicators, including rule, rate, and review indicators. Profiles will also 
include indicators from other quality events that required a review by 
PPEC. 

2. OPPE profile metrics may change and evolve over time based on individual 
performance and opportunities for improvement and specialty specific 
indicators. Specialty specific measures will be recommended for inclusion 
on the OPPE profiles and approved by each specialty, PPEC, and MEC. 

3. Other metrics will be included on the OPPE profiles to meet the six (6) 
general competency categories, including patient experience data, and will 
include any data showing zero performance. 

4. Compile at least two OPPE's on all designated staff members every 24 
months, but not longer than 12 months apart. 

5. Individual Practitioners will be notified when profile is ready for review. 

E. PPEC will be responsible for ensuring consistent implementation of the OPPE 
process and for reviewing at least two OPPE's on all designated staff members every 
24 months, but not longer than 12 months apart. 

1. Review is expected to be completed within 30 days of receiving OPPE 
profiles. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 9 of 17

18/173



DRAFT

2. Purpose: 

a. To review Practitioner performance, identify trends and intervene 
when appropriate. 

i. If data is exceeding thresholds, the cases that 
contributed to the excess rate may be reviewed when 
indicated. 

b. To request additional information for further review. 

c. Develop individual improvement plans from this process when 
appropriate. 

i. If improvement plans are not effective in improving 
performance, recommendation and/or initiation for 
FPPE may occur.  

3. PPEC designated members are expected to communicate feedback and 
opportunities for improvement with individual Practitioners when 
appropriate, or communicate with the appropriate Department Chair/Vice 
Chair for follow-up actions. 

V. FPPE 

A. Focused professional practice evaluation (FPPE) is a time-limited process to ensure 
there is sufficient information available to evaluate a Practitioner's clinical 
competence. It may be initiated on an individual Practitioner in the following 
situations: 

1. When clinical privileges are initially granted to a Practitioner who is new to 
the organization. 

2. An existing Practitioner requests a new privilege or does not have 
documented evidence of performing a requested privilege. 

3. An existing Practitioner requests assistance with an identified 
improvement opportunity. 

4. A question arises regarding a Practitioner's ability to provide safe, high 
quality patient care. This can be initiated through the following processes, 
but not limited to: 

a. OPPE trends 

b. Low volume procedures 

c. Sentinel event 

d. Complaint 

e. Variance from acceptable practice patterns 

f. Variance from comparative peer performance data 

g. Recommendations made to Medical Executive Committee 

B. Direct observation of the applicant is required, with a few exceptions. Because of 
staff limitations, direct observation is not required for Locum Tenens Practitioners, 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 10 of 17

19/173



DRAFT

but it is recommended. The evaluator may use one or more of the following in 
addition to direct observation: 

1. Chart review. 

2. Discussion with other individuals involved in a patient's care (other 
Practitioners, nurses, surgical assistants, administration, etc.) 

3. Monitoring of diagnostic and treatment techniques. 

4. Simulation. 

5. Proctoring. 

C.  FPPE plans will contain, at a minimum: 

1. An individual designated as responsible for overseeing the plan. 

2. Specific criteria that will be monitored. 

3. Measures of success. 

4. Time frame for the plan. 

5. Parameters for extending the plan. 

6. Actions that may be taken if the performance is not satisfactory. 

7. Method of communicating the evaluation results and recommendations 
based on results, to appropriate parties. 

D. FPPE for initial grant of clinical privileges, existing Practitioner requesting a new 
privilege, or an individual request for improvement: 

1. The Department Chair will oversee the evaluation process for all 
Practitioners undergoing FPPE. They may evaluate the Practitioner 
themselves, or they may assign an Active member of the Medical Staff to 
evaluate the Practitioner. The evaluator should have the same or similar 
privileges as the Practitioner being evaluated. 

2. When the Practitioner's credentials file is reviewed and approved by the 
Department Chair, the Chair will assign an FPPE evaluator. 

3. The Department Chair will develop an FPPE monitoring plan using pre-
established department specific criteria. In those instances when no 
department-specific criteria have been established, the Department Chair 
will determine the specific privileges to be monitored. 

4. The Medical Staff Services Office will send an FPPE letter and evaluation 
forms to the evaluator, and will copy the Practitioner. The FPPE letter will 
be sent after the Practitioner's privileges have been approved by the Board 
of Trustees. 

5. The FPPE for initial privileges, or new privileges, should be completed 
within six (6) months from the date the privileges were granted. The FPPE 
can be based on volume of cases, instead of a specific time period, if 
necessary. An evaluation form will need to be completed for each of ten 
procedures or ten patients for which care was provided. However, as soon 
as the Practitioner commences clinical activity, all of his/her work is 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 11 of 17

20/173



DRAFT

subject to evaluation until the FPPE has been completed and competency 
evaluated. 

6. All FPPE evaluation forms will be turned into the Medical Staff Services 
Office. 

7. The Medical Staff Office will forward a copy of all completed FPPE 
evaluation forms to the appropriate Department Chair for their review and 
recommendation. 

8. If an event happens in the last month of initial monitoring, the FPPE can be 
extended for six (6) months or five (5) cases, whichever comes first. 

9. If FPPE is found to be unsatisfactory, the Practitioner will be referred to the 
Credentials Committee for final determination regarding continuation of 
privileges. 

E. Locum Tenens or temporary Practitioners will be required to participate in FPPE. 
However, because they are often working when other physicians in their specialty are 
away, direct observation may not always be possible.  In addition, locums 
Practitioners may only be contracted for a short time period, so the requirement of 
ten (10) cases in a six (6) month time period is not always practical.  The 
Department Chair will assign an evaluator for locums or temporary Practitioners.  If 
the evaluator is unable to review ten (10) charts, because of inadequate volume, they 
will review as many charts as possible.  They will then document the reason they 
were unable to review ten (10) charts and forward that information, along with the 
evaluation forms, to the Medical Staff Office.  

F. FPPE for triggered events outside of the initial request for privileges or requested 
improvement: 

1. When a triggered Focused Professional Practice Evaluation is initiated, 
with the exception for initial request for privileges, the following events 
shall occur: 

a. The PPEC chairperson shall notify the MEC at the next regularly 
scheduled MEC meeting that a FPPE is either recommended 
and/or has been initiated. 

b. The data supporting the necessity for recommendation/
initiation is reviewed and analyzed by MEC for appropriateness. 

c. The Chief of Staff will notify the Board that a triggered FPPE 
has been initiated. 

d. The involved Practitioner will be given both verbal and written 
notice by either the chairperson of the PPEC, the Chief of Staff, 
or the MEC’s designee regarding the specific concerns which 
have been identified and are the basis for initiating the FPPE. 

e. The involved Practitioner will be given access to medical records 
and other appropriate information necessary to respond to the 
cases or events, as applicable. 

f. The PPEC will be responsible for assigning an evaluator and for 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 12 of 17

21/173



DRAFT

following-up on the FPPE plan with the individual Practitioner. 

g. The PPEC can at any point during the FPPE require the 
Practitioner under evaluation to address the PPEC in person. A 
reasonable amount of time will be established by the PPEC for 
this to occur. Failure of the Practitioner to comply with the 
requests for additional information or a personal appearance 
shall be considered a violation of Medical Staff Bylaws and will 
result in automatic suspension of the Practitioner’s privileges. 

h. Prior to reaching a final conclusion, the PPEC may require the 
involved Practitioner to respond to the committee’s concerns by 
addressing the PPEC in person. It shall be the obligation of the 
Practitioner being reviewed to fulfill this requirement within a 
reasonable period of time as may be established by the PPEC. 
The involved Practitioner shall be strongly encouraged to submit 
a written response to all identified clinical concerns, as well. 
Failure of the Practitioner to comply with the requests for 
additional information or a personal appearance shall be 
considered a violation of Medical Staff Bylaws and will result in 
automatic suspension of the Practitioner’s privileges. 

i. The conclusions and recommendations of a FPPE shall be 
recorded in writing and shall include a record of any medical 
record reviews, interviews, reports, medical literature information 
utilized, relevant clinical practice guidelines and/or evidence 
based information which has been used in arriving at the FPPE’s 
conclusions. The recommendations shall include consideration 
of the need for corrective action, education, additional 
performance monitoring (internal or external), and/or other 
actions deemed appropriate by the PPEC. 

j. The findings and conclusions of the FPPE evaluation shall be 
reported to the MEC by the PPEC chairperson or designee at the 
next regularly scheduled MEC meeting. 

k. A triggered FPPE shall be completed within 120 days of initiation 
when possible, dependent on the nature of the situation. If the 
PPEC is not able to complete the triggered FPPE within 120 days 
of initiation, a report will be submitted to the MEC regarding the 
status and timeliness of the FPPE in progress. 

l. Upon completion of the triggered FPPE, PPEC will notify the 
Practitioner in writing of the results. 

m. Correspondence with the Practitioner regarding the monitoring 
plan, progress reports, and the final report will be included in the 
Practitioner's peer review file, which are reviewed by the 
Department Chair and Credentials Committee as part of the 
appointment/reappointment process. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 13 of 17

22/173



DRAFT

VI. Authority for Peer Review 

A. WY Stat § 35-2-910. Quality management functions for health care facilities; 
confidentiality; immunity; whistle blowing; peer review. 

1. (c) No hospital shall be issued a license or have its license renewed unless 
it provides for the review of professional practices in the hospital for the 
purpose of reducing morbidity and mortality and for the improvement of 
the care of patients in the hospital. This review shall include, but not be 
limited to: 

(i) The quality and necessity of the care provided to patients as rendered in 
the hospital; 
(ii) The prevention of complications and deaths occurring in the hospital; 
(iii) The review of medical treatments and diagnostic and surgical 
procedures in order to ensure safe and adequate treatment of patients in 
the hospital; and 
(iv) The evaluation of medical and health care services and the 
qualifications and professional competence of persons performing or 
seeking to perform those services. 
 

2. (d) The review required in subsection (c) of this section shall be performed 
according to the decision of a hospital's governing board by: 

(i) A peer review committee appointed by the organized medical staff of 
the hospital. 

VII. Confidentiality 

A. WY Stat § 35-2-910. Quality management functions for health care facilities; 
confidentiality; immunity; whistle blowing; peer review. Subsection A. "Each licensee 
[hospital, healthcare facility and health services] shall implement a quality 
management function to evaluate and improve patient and resident care and 
services in accordance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the division. 
Quality management information relating to the evaluation or improvement of the 
quality of health care services is confidential. Any person who in good faith and 
within the scope of the functions of a quality management program participates in 
the reporting, collection, evaluation, or use of quality management information or 
performs other functions as part of a quality management program with regards to a 
specific circumstance shall be immune from suit in any civil action based on such 
functions brought by a health care Practitioner or person to whom the quality 
information pertains. In no event shall this immunity apply to any negligent or 
intentional act or omission in the provision of care" (Wyoming Laws, 2015). 

B. WY Stat § 35-17-103. Exemption from liability; exception: A professional standard 
review organization or a society or person rendering services as a member of a 
professional standard review organization functioning pursuant to this act is not 
liable either independently or jointly for any civil damages as a result of acts or 
omissions in his capacity as a member of any such organization or society. Such 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 14 of 17

23/173



DRAFT

persons or organizations or societies are not immune from liability for intentional or 
malicious acts or omissions resulting in harm or any grossly negligent acts or 
omissions resulting in harm. 

C. WY Stat § 35-17-105. Information of review organizations to be confidential and 
privileged. All reports, findings, proceedings and data of the professional standard 
review organizations is confidential and privileged, and is not subject to discovery or 
introduction into evidence in any civil action, and no person who is in attendance at a 
meeting of the organization shall be permitted or required to testify in any civil action 
as to any evidence or other matters produced or presented during the proceedings 
of the organization or as to any findings, recommendations, evaluations, opinions or 
other actions of the organization or any members thereof. 

D. Confidentiality shall be maintained, based on full respect of the patient's right to 
privacy and in keeping with hospital policy and state and federal regulations 
governing the confidentiality of quality and patient safety work. All quality and 
patient safety data and information shall be considered the property of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County. 

E. Only the following individuals will have access to Practitioner-specific peer review 
information and only for purposes of evaluation and improvement of the quality of 
care rendered in the hospital: 

1. The specific Practitioner. 

2. The Chief of Staff for purposes of considering corrective action. 

3. Department chairpersons (for members of their department only) for 
purposes of initial chart review or considering corrective action. 

4. Members of the PPEC, MEC, and Credentials Committees for purposes of 
considering corrective action and as part of the appointment/
reappointment process. 

5. Medical staff service professionals supporting the credentialing process 
and to the extent that the access to this information is necessary for re-
credentialing or formal corrective action. 

6. The Quality Department for purposes of tracking peer review processes, 
OPPE profile compilation, and generating reports as requested by parties 
privileged to the information. 

7. Individuals performing surveys for accrediting bodies with appropriate 
jurisdiction (i.e. TJC, CMS, DHS, etc.). 

8. The Hospital Chief Executive Officer (CEO) when information is needed to 
take immediate formal corrective action for purposes of summary 
suspension by the CEO. 

F. No copies of peer review documents will be created and distributed unless 
authorized by medical staff policy or bylaws, the MEC, PPEC, Credentials Committee, 
or by mutual agreement between the Chief of Staff and CEO for purposes of 
deliberations regarding corrective action on specific cases. 

G. No copies of peer review information will be given to other facilities or agencies 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 15 of 17

24/173



DRAFT

without specific written authorization from the Practitioner. 

References 

Reviewed and Approved: 

PPEC 

MEC 10/25/2022 

Board of Trustees 

Joint Commission Resources. (2022) Policy Source Hospital: MS_Ongoing Professional Practice 
Evaluation Policy. Retrieved September, 2020 from https://jcr.skyprepapp.com/course_items/show/
389279?course_id=78967#course-item-id=389279 

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality [AHRQ]. (2022). Quality. https://www.ahrq.gov/topics/
quality.html 

Institute of Medicine [IOM]. (1990). Medicare: A strategy for quality assurance: Volume II sources and 
methods. Institute of Medicine (US) committee to design a strategy for quality review and assurance in 
Medicare. Washington (DC): National Academies Press. 

The Christ Hospital. (2013). Ongoing professional practice evaluation. Retrieved from 
https://www.thechristhospital.com/Documents/.../Medical_Staff_Bylaws.pdf. 

Adapted for MHSC use, with modifications, with written electronic mail permission from Jeni, 
Medical Staff Services Manager at The Christ Hospital received March 21, 2017. 

The Greeley Company, LLC. (2017). Physician and hospital leadership seminars: Peer review bootcamp. 
Materials presented at: Peer Review Bootcamp. Physician and Hospital Leadership Seminar; 2017 
January 19-21; Desert Springs, CA. 

The Greeley Company, LLC. (2019). Physician and hospital leadership seminars: Peer review bootcamp. 
Materials presented at: Peer Review Bootcamp. Physician and Hospital Leadership Seminar; 2019 
March; New Orleans, LA. 

Stanford Health Care. (2016). Peer review and focused professional practice evaluation (FPPE) policy for 
medical staff and advanced practice Practitioners (APPs). Retrieved from 
https://stanfordhealthcare.org/content/dam/SHC/health-care-professionals/medical-staff/policies/
peer-review-and-focused-professional-practice-evaluation-fppe-4-16.pdf 

Adapted for MHSC use, with modifications, with written electronic mail permission from Debra, 
Administrative Director, Medical Staff Services and Pediatric Residency Program at Stanford 
Health Care received February 27, 2017. 

Wyoming Laws. (2021). Title 35, Public Health and Safety. Wyoming Statute W.S. §35-2-910 (1977). 
Quality management functions for health care facilities; confidentiality; immunity; whistle blowing; peer 
review. Retrieved from Thomson Reuters WestlawNext. 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 16 of 17

25/173



DRAFT

Attachments 

FPPE Department Chair Review 

FPPE Evaluation Form 

Medical Staff Professional Practice Review Indicators 2022-2023 Final.xlsx 

Medical Staff Professional Practice-Peer Review Process Flow- OPPE 2022 - 2023.vsd 

Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

Professional Practice Review Plan (Medical Staff Peer Review). Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12323902/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 17 of 17

26/173



WEALTH ADVISORY | OUTSOURCING | AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING

©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

2022 Audit Results and Report to the Board of Directors

Memorial Hospital of 
Sweetwater County

27/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PTable of Contents

2

Topic Page

Executive Summary 3

Results of Professional Services 4

Your Business                                5

Financial Highlights 6

Understanding Your Industry                     19

Appendix 36

Required Communications 36

Internal Control Matters 39

28/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY | OUTSOURCING 
AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING

Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth 
Advisors, LLC, an SEC‐registered investment advisor 3

Results of Professional Services

Executive Summary

29/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Results of Professional Services

Significant Transactions
• Adoption of GASB 87 – Lease Standard
• Refinance of 2013A Bonds
• Single audit completed for Period 1 CARES Act and 2021 Federal Awards
• New Electronic Health Record installed

Audit Adjustments
• Total of 6 audit adjustments were proposed, including those provided by 

management, resulting in an increase in net position of approximately $1,500,000
• No passed audit adjustments

Internal Control Results 
• Material Weaknesses – Misstatement detected by audit

Subsequent Events
• None Noted

30/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY | OUTSOURCING 
AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING

Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth 
Advisors, LLC, an SEC‐registered investment advisor 5

Your Business

31/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PFinancial Ratios – Comparative Data Used

• Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (MHSC)
o $103.0 Million Net Patient Service Revenue
o 2019‐2022 Data, Based on Audited Combined Financial

Statements

• CLA Benchmark (CLA)
o Median of Similar‐Sized Governmental PPS Hospitals, located

in the state of Wyoming (3)

• Standards & Poor’s (S&P) BBB+ to BBB‐
o Median indicators from a sample of 68 nonprofit hospitals in

the United States

32/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Profitability Ratios

Definition
This ratio is operating income as a percentage of net patient service revenue plus other operating
revenues. It is used to report the facility’s return on revenues which relate to the main purpose of
operations.

Operating Margin

33/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Profitability Ratios

Definition:
Total margin reflects excess of revenue over expenses as a percentage of total revenues, including
nonoperating revenues.

Total Margin

34/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Profitability Ratios

Definition:
Total EBIDA Margin represents Earnings (total income) Before Interest, Depreciation, and Amortization
divided by total revenues. It is used as a rough measure of operation cash flow in a facility. This ratio is
often used when evaluating debt capacity.

Total EBIDA Margin

35/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Definition:
This is measured by dividing the amount of operating losses in the physician practices by the Provider
FTE’s worked. We would recommend not focusing necessarily on the loss position of the practice but
more the trend over a four‐year time horizon.

Operating Loss per Provider FTE

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Physician Specific

10

-88,525

-106,003
-93,902

-90,650

-120,000

-100,000

-80,000

-60,000

-40,000

-20,000

0

2019 2020 2021 2022

36/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Definition:
This is measured by dividing the amount of visits (primary care and specialty care) in the physician
practices by the Provider FTE’s worked.

Visits per Provider FTE

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Physician Specific

11

874 836 801 

1,008 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

2019 2020 2021 2022

37/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Liquidity Ratios

Definition:
Days Cash on Hand measures the number of days of average cash expenses that the facility maintains in
cash and amounts reserved for capital improvements. High values usually imply a greater ability to meet
both short‐term obligations and long‐term capital replacement needs.

Days Cash on Hand (All Sources)

38/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Liquidity Ratios

Definition:
Days in patient accounts receivable is defined as the average time that receivables are outstanding, or
the average collection period.

Net Days in Accounts Receivable

39/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Liquidity Ratios

Definition:
The percentage of accounts receivable within a payor classification, and in total, that is greater than 90
days old based on accounts receivable aging as of June 30, 2022.

Aging of Accounts Receivable

40/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Other Ratios

Definition:
This ratio is calculated by dividing the bad debt and charity care by gross patient service revenue.

Bad Debt and Charity Care as a Percent of Gross Patient Service Revenue

41/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Liquidity Ratios

Definition:
Debt service coverage is calculated as income available for debt service (net income + depreciation and
amortization + interest expense) divided by the annual debt service requirements (principal payments
made + interest expense).

Debt Service Coverage

42/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Leverage Ratios

Definition:
This ratio is defined as the proportion of long‐term debt divided by long‐term debt plus total net assets.
Higher values for this ratio imply a greater reliance on debt financing and may imply reduced ability to
carry additional debt.

Debt to Capitalization

43/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Definition:

Average age of plant attempts to approximate the average age of an organization’s fixed assets. A low
value is considered to be desirable as it indicates a newer facility.

Average Age of Plant

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County
Financial Indicators – Liquidity Ratios

44/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY | OUTSOURCING 
AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING

Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth 
Advisors, LLC, an SEC‐registered investment advisor 19

Understanding Your 
Industry

45/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PTrends to Monitor

Labor, labor, 
labor, labor

Behavioral & 
mental health

Antitrust & 
Oversight

Private Equity 
Influence

Medicare 
Advantage Growth

Inflation & 
Economic

Capitol Hill & 
Regulatory Agenda

46/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Labor, labor…..
Employment Trends by Segment

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000

8,500

Ja
n

 2
0

F
eb

 2
0

M
ar

 2
0

A
p

r 
20

M
ay

 2
0

Ju
n

e 
20

Ju
ly

 2
0

A
u

g.
 2

0
S

ep
t.

 2
0

O
ct

. 2
0

N
ov

. 2
0

D
ec

. 2
0

Ja
n

. 2
1

F
eb

. 2
1

M
ar

. 2
1

A
p

r.
 2

1
M

ay
 2

1
Ju

n
e 

21
Ju

ly
 2

1
A

u
g.

 2
1

S
ep

t.
 2

1
O

ct
. 2

1
N

ov
. 2

1
D

ec
. 2

1
Ja

n
. 2

2
F

eb
. 2

2

All Ambulatory

5,050

5,100

5,150

5,200

5,250

Ja
n

 2
0

F
eb

 2
0

M
ar

 2
0

A
p

r 
20

M
ay

 2
0

Ju
n

e 
20

Ju
ly

 2
0

A
u

g.
 2

0
S

ep
t.

 2
0

O
ct

. 2
0

N
ov

. 2
0

D
ec

. 2
0

Ja
n

. 2
1

F
eb

. 2
1

M
ar

. 2
1

A
p

r.
 2

1
M

ay
 2

1
Ju

n
e 

21
Ju

ly
 2

1
A

u
g.

 2
1

S
ep

t.
 2

1
O

ct
. 2

1
N

ov
. 2

1
D

ec
. 2

1
Ja

n
. 2

2
F

eb
. 2

2

Hospitals

2,900

3,000

3,100

3,200

3,300

3,400

Ja
n

 2
0

F
eb

 2
0

M
ar

 2
0

A
p

r 
20

M
ay

 2
0

Ju
n

e 
20

Ju
ly

 2
0

A
u

g.
 2

0
S

ep
t.

 2
0

O
ct

. 2
0

N
ov

. 2
0

D
ec

. 2
0

Ja
n

. 2
1

F
eb

. 2
1

M
ar

. 2
1

A
p

r.
 2

1
M

ay
 2

1
Ju

n
e 

21
Ju

ly
 2

1
A

u
g.

 2
1

S
ep

t.
 2

1
O

ct
. 2

1
N

ov
. 2

1
D

ec
. 2

1
Ja

n
. 2

2
F

eb
. 2

2

Nursing & Res. Care Facilities

• The industry as a whole has been hit 
hard by turnover, early retirements 
and net job losses when compared to 
pre-pandemic levels.

• The ambulatory setting has 
demonstrated a stronger rebound, 
with net overall growth in total 
employment, while hospitals and 
nursing/residential care facilities are 
still lagging. 

• The total change during the pandemic 
time period is as follows:

• All Ambulatory: Increase of 2.8%
• Hospitals: Decrease of 1.9%
• Nursing & Residential Care Facilities: 

Decrease of 11.8%

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics as of February 2022 “Employment, Hours, and Earnings from Current 
Employment Statistical Survey (National)”

47/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PLabor, labor……

Hourly Wage Rate Trends by Segment

$32

$33

$34

$35

$36

$37

Ja
n

 2
0

F
eb

 2
0

M
ar

 2
0

A
p

r 
20

M
ay

 2
0

Ju
n

e 
20

Ju
ly

 2
0

A
u

g.
 2

0
S

ep
t.

 2
0

O
ct

. 2
0

N
ov

. 2
0

D
ec

. 2
0

Ja
n

. 2
1

F
eb

. 2
1

M
ar

. 2
1

A
p

r.
 2

1
M

ay
 2

1
Ju

n
e 

21
Ju

ly
 2

1
A

u
g.

 2
1

S
ep

t.
 2

1
O

ct
. 2

1
N

ov
. 2

1
D

ec
. 2

1
Ja

n
. 2

2

All Ambulatory

$34

$35

$36

$37

$38

$39

Ja
n

 2
0

F
eb

 2
0

M
ar

 2
0

A
p

r 
20

M
ay

 2
0

Ju
n

e 
20

Ju
ly

 2
0

A
u

g.
 2

0
S

ep
t.

 2
0

O
ct

. 2
0

N
ov

. 2
0

D
ec

. 2
0

Ja
n

. 2
1

F
eb

. 2
1

M
ar

. 2
1

A
p

r.
 2

1
M

ay
 2

1
Ju

n
e 

21
Ju

ly
 2

1
A

u
g.

 2
1

S
ep

t.
 2

1
O

ct
. 2

1
N

ov
. 2

1
D

ec
. 2

1
Ja

n
. 2

2

Hospitals

$19

$20

$21

$22

$23

$24

Ja
n

 2
0

F
eb

 2
0

M
ar

 2
0

A
p

r 
20

M
ay

 2
0

Ju
n

e 
20

Ju
ly

 2
0

A
u

g.
 2

0
S

ep
t.

 2
0

O
ct

. 2
0

N
ov

. 2
0

D
ec

. 2
0

Ja
n

. 2
1

F
eb

. 2
1

M
ar

. 2
1

A
p

r.
 2

1
M

ay
 2

1
Ju

n
e 

21
Ju

ly
 2

1
A

u
g.

 2
1

S
ep

t.
 2

1
O

ct
. 2

1
N

ov
. 2

1
D

ec
. 2

1
Ja

n
. 2

2

Nursing & Res. Care Facilities

• Compounding the challenges associated with 
available labor is the cost for the labor that is 
available. 

• As depicted at right, each segment has 
experienced significant increases in wage 
rates during the pandemic time period as 
follows:

• All Ambulatory: 9.9%
• Hospitals: 13.8%
• Nursing & Residential Care: 18.3% 

• Double digit increases in hourly wage rate, 
along with lack of available labor signals 
devasting downward pressures on operating 
margins for the industry as a whole. 

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics as of February 2022 “Employment, Hours, and Earnings from Current 
Employment Statistical Survey (National)”

48/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

• The pandemic time period has taken a 
significant toll on the mental health of 
people across the United States. 

• The graphs at right depict significant 
increases in anxiety and depression when 
compared to the same time period from 
2019. 

• For frontline health care workers, these 
feelings are compounded by burnout and 
exhaustion which is resulting in an exodus 
of workers to pursue other careers or 
early retirements. 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%

2019 2022

11%

48%

Feelings of Anxiety

Behavioral & Mental Health
Anxiety, Depression & Burnout on the Rise

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

2019 2022

5%

41%

Symptoms of Depression

Source: CDC Nat’l Center for Health Statistics Interactive Early Release Program (Jan. – Mar. 2019) and U.S. Census 
Bureau Household Pulse Survey, Wk. 42 (Jan. – Feb. 2022)

49/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

• The mental health impact of the pandemic is 
having a more significant impact on adults 
aged 18 to 49. 

• The significant increase and widespread impact 
across adults’ signals a market need, and a 
potential opportunity for providers. 

• The demand for services coupled with 
reimbursement changes by CMS to allow for 
certain services to be provided by telehealth, 
could be the window of opportunity Private 
Equity (PE) is seeing. 

• As reflected at right, PE deals around Behavioral 
Health have picked up significantly in both 
volume and deal value during 2020 and 2021.  

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

18-24 25-49 50-64 65+

56.2%

48.9%

39.1%

29.3%

Symptoms of Anxiety and/or 
Depression Among Adults *

Behavioral & Mental Health
Anxiety, Depression & Burnout on the Rise

$0.27

$0.82

$1.78

$0.43

$2.79 $2.91
43

53

88

71 70
78

0

20

40

60

80

100

-$1

$0

$1

$2

$3

$4

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Behavioral Health Deal Value/Volume 
2016 – 2021 *

* Sources: CDC Nat’l Center for Health Statistics Interactive Early Release Program (Jan. – Mar. 2019) and U.S. Census Bureau Household Pulse Survey, 
Wk. 42 (Jan. – Feb. 2022) and Kaiser Family Foundation analysis “The implications of COVID-19 Mental Health and Substance Abuse” dated February 10, 
2021. CLA Article “Transaction Trends in Health Care Deal Making” by Jed Cheney, Principal dated March 2022; charts reproduced with permission from 
Deal Search Online, www.healthcaremanda.com, all rights reserved. 

50/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PAntitrust & Oversight

PRESIDENT EXECUTIVE ORDER

“This order affirms that it is the policy 
of my Administration to enforce the 

antitrust laws to combat the excessive 
concentration of industry, the abuses of 
market power, and the harmful effects 

of monopoly……especially as these 
issues arise in………health care 

markets…..”
- President Joe Biden, July 9, 2021

FTC POLICY PRIORITIES

“In terms of specific policy 
priorities….there are a few where I’d like 
the agency to focus its work. First, we need 
to address rampant consolidation and the 
dominance it has enabled across markets.”

- Linda M. Kahn, Chair of FTC 
September 22, 2021 memo to Staff

Justice Department Sues to Block UnitedHealth 
Group’s Acquisition of Change Healthcare

“Acquisition Would Allow Health Care Giant to Use 
Competitively Sensitive Claims Data of Hundreds of Millions 
of Americans to Reduce Competition and Innovation to the 
Detriment of Health Insurance Consumers”

- DOJ Press Release, Thursday, February 24, 2022

Hackensack Meridian Health, Inc. and Englewood 
Healthcare Foundation

“The Federal Trade Commission filed an administrative 
complaint and authorized a suit in federal court, to block 
Hackensack Meridian Health, Inc.’s proposed acquisition of 
Englewood Healthcare Foundation…..The proposed 
acquisition would eliminate close competition….and leave 
insurers with few alternatives……”

- Pending FTC Case as of February 25, 2022

What’s being said…… DOJ & FTC recent activity……

51/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

• The FTC checklist doesn’t stop at current transactions.

• 2015 – 2020 Lookback 
o In 2020 ordered 6 insurance companies to provide 

information so FTC can study M&A impact.
o Specific focus is studying effects of physician groups and 

healthcare facility mergers and how horizontal mergers 
have affected provider prices.

o The study will also examine non‐price issues, like health 
care outcomes and competitive impact on non‐inpatient 
healthcare facilities transactions.

• Tightening M&A Policies
o FTC is actively updating its policies and regulations 

impacting various business practices, including M&A 
transactions.

o Expect goals policies to be implemented over the course 
of the next 2 years. 

o There is by‐partisan support in Congress to increase 
funding and legal authority for the FTC. 

Antitrust & Oversight *

2015 – 2020
Lookback

UHG & Change 
Healthcare

Meridian Health & 
EH Foundation

Tighten M&A 
Policies

Source: Research and insights provided 
by Health Policy Source, Inc.

52/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

“Recent years have seen a surge of innovation in health care, driven by investments from private equity 
firms, family offices, and other sources. This elevated interest – particularly in fragmented specialties, home‐
based care and behavioral health – is creating growth opportunities throughout the health care sector.”
‐ Jed Cheney, CLA Principal*

Private Equity Influence

* Source: CLA Article “Transaction Trends in Health Care Deal Making” by Jed Cheney, Principal dated March 2022; 
charts reproduced with permission from Deal Search Online, www.healthcaremanda.com, all rights reserved. 

53/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

• Medicare Advantage (MA) has experienced significant growth 
and is becoming the “more popular option” for seniors.

• However, MA costs the federal government about 104% of 
Medicare Fee‐for‐Service (FFS). 

• The federal government contracts with commercial insurers 
to provide MA benefits to beneficiaries, and pays the insurers 
a per member per month payment (PMPM).

• A critical piece of ensuring this PMPM payment is sufficient is 
embedded in understanding the health conditions of the 
enrolled beneficiaries, and ensuring they are reflecting in the 
coding and documentation of services. 

• This “coding intensity” partially contributes to the excess 
spending and in a March 3, 2022 letter to CMS, MedPAC 
expressed the following:

• CMS’s coding intensity adjustment is insufficient 
resulting in more than $91 billion in excess payments 
since 2007.

• Insufficient coding intensity adjustments plus 
significant growth will result in > $15 billion of excess 
payments in 2022 alone.

• Across the board coding adjustments results in 
payment inequity.

Medicare Advantage Growth & Scrutiny

38,505 38,484 38,137 37,707 36,748

18,334 19,815
21,660

23,643
25,931

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Medicare FFS Medicare Advantage

Source: http://CMS.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems-Trends-and -Reports/CMSProgramStatistics/Dashboard; 
MedPAC Letter to CMS Administrator Chaquita Brooks-LaSure dated March 3, 2022

Growth in Medicare FFS vs. 
Medicare Advantage *

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

3% 3% 3% 3%
5% 5% 5% 6% 6% 6% 6%

1%
2% 3% 4% 2%

4%
2% 1%

2% 3% 4%

Gap in MA Coding Intensity 
Adj. vs. Actual Coding Impact *

54/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

• The fact MA costs the federal government more than FFS, 
should not be interpreted as providers getting paid more.

• A portion of the additional costs go to beneficiaries in the form 
of enhanced benefits, such as dental, fitness, eye exams/glasses, 
etc., lower cost sharing or some combination of the two.

• Insurers who contract with the federal government are taking 
the PMPM payment and “managing” the utilization of services 
those beneficiaries receive and as a result will scrutinize services 
more closely. 

• Some studies indicate this “care management” process results 
in reduced spending on actual health care services ‐ certain 
patient populations have resulted in up to 17% spending less 
than FFS (i.e. dual beneficiaries). 

• “Reduced spending” really equates to lower payments to 
providers by either outright payment rate reductions, but most 
often through driving down utilization of services. 

• By contrast FFS pays providers for services delivered and lacks 
the “care management” protocols embedded in MA and 
therefore has less scrutiny over services delivered. 

• This differential often leaves providers of health care frustrated 
and having to work through challenges when it comes to 
receiving and keeping payment for services to MA beneficiaries.

Medicare Advantage Growth & Scrutiny

$3,000

$6,000

$9,000

$12,000

$15,000

MA Duals FFS Duals

$4,073
$5,450

$2,386

$3,970
$4,267

$3,540$433

$438

Inpatient Outpatient Phys. & Tests DME

$11,159

$13,398

* Medicare Advantage Achieves Cost-Effective Care and Better Outcomes for Beneficiaries with Chronic Conditions Relative to Fee-for-
Service Medicare;  by Avalere Health, July 2018

Examples of Medicare Advantage 
Supplemental Benefits

Dental Fitness Eye Glasses

55/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

• Current economy is more reflective of a 
roller coaster than it is a smooth sail ship. 

• In January of 2022 inflation hit a record 
high of 7.5%, after increasing steadily 
throughout 2021. 

• Federal Reserve Chair, Jerome Powell has 
signaled that given the rising inflation rate 
it “…will soon be appropriate to raise the 
target range for the federal funds rate.”

• All signs are pointing to not just one, but a 
series of potential interest rate 
adjustments in an attempt to reverse the 
inflation trend. 

• In the near term, inflation and market 
uncertainty will continue to erode 
investment returns, which will erode a 
much needed source of cash flow for 
health care providers. 

Economy & Inflation

1.4%

1.7%

2.6%

4.2%

5.0%

5.4%

5.4%

5.3%

5.4%

6.2% 6.8%

7.0%

7.5%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

6.0%

7.0%

8.0%

Jan
'21

Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan
'22

All Item Inflation Trend 
Jan. ‘21 – Jan. ’22 *

Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics as of February 2022 Press Release for Consumer Price Index – January 2022, 
dated February 10, 2022

56/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PCapitol Hill and the Regulatory Agenda

Medicare 
Part A 

Solvency

Health 
Equity

Value 
Based 
Care

57/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PChallenging Times Signal a Call to Action

• Labor challenges:
o Utilize incentive/bonus type payments to reward extra efforts in near term.
o Manage permanent adjustments to wage scales to avoid longer‐term financial 

challenges.
o Evaluate benefits packages and add enhancements where possible:

 Employee Assistance Programs to assist with mental health & burnout related 
concerns.

 Increases in contributions to retirement plans.

o Celebrate your people more; show them you care like never before! 

• Behavioral & Mental Health
o Learn from Private Equity and consider service expansion to meet increased 

demand and need for services – this is NOT a short‐term need! 
o Take advantage of enhanced reimbursement for services delivered via 

telehealth.
o Use creative ways to connect institutionalized residents or patients with loved 

ones – avoid prolonged periods of isolation.

58/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PChallenging Times Signal a Call to Action

• Anti‐Trust & Oversight Activities
o Elevate risk compliance and management programs.
o Consider an internal audit program either internally developed or outsourced, 

or some combination.
o DO NOT lose track of cybersecurity! 

• Private Equity
o Pay attention – what do they understand that you may be missing?
o Is your organization innovative enough to compete with PE?
o Behavioral health, data analytics, home care, etc., are areas of focus – what 

are your strategies?

• Medicare Advantage
o Monitor changing demographics and MA penetration in your market.
o Understand MA patient populations that have higher needs (i.e. one or more 

chronic conditions) and work with MA plans to understand care protocols. 
o If you own/participate in an MA plan, tighten up compliance.

59/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PChallenging Times Signal a Call to Action

• Economy & Inflation
o Back to the basics of efficiency, and service line performance – understand it 

and drive changes as necessaries.
o Utilize financial modeling that incorporates multiple scenarios to enhance 

planning and strategic direction.
o Don’t pull back on expansion activities – grow but grow efficiently!

• Capitol Hill/Regulatory Agenda
o Enforcement activities are on the rise! Consider elevating compliance & risk 

management programs (seeing a theme here?). 
o Pay attention to and monitor emerging regulations as well as agency 

enforcement actions. These changes will have opportunities too, so getting 
ahead will enable more effective planning to capture them. 

o Despite looming financial compression DO NOT be afraid to hire external help 
– it’ll be significantly cheaper than the fines and penalties you may face for 
lack of compliance. 

60/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

WEALTH ADVISORY | OUTSOURCING 
AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING

Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth 
Advisors, LLC, an SEC‐registered investment advisor 35

Appendix

61/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PRequired Communications

Topic Communication

Our responsibility under 
Generally Accepted Auditing 
Standards

• Express an opinion on the fair presentation of the combined financial statements
in conformity with GAAP

• Plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, nonabsolute assurance that the
combined financial statements are free of material misstatement

• Report on internal controls related to the combined financial statements and on
compliance in accordance with Government Auditing Standards

• Evaluate internal control over financial reporting
• Utilize a risk-based audit approach
• Communicate significant matters to appropriate parties

Planned Scope and Timing 
of the Audit

• Performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously
discussed

Other Information in 
Documents Containing the 
Audited Financial 
Statements

• Combined financial statements may only be used in their entirety
• Our approval is required to use our audit report in a client prepared document
• We have no responsibility to perform procedures beyond those related to the

combined financial statements

62/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
PRequired Communications

Topic Communication
Significant Accounting 
Policies

• Management is responsible for the accounting policies of the organization
• Accounting policies are outlined in Note 1 to the combined financial statements
• Adoption of GASB 87 in fiscal year 2022
• Accounting policies deemed appropriate
• No significant unusual transactions occurred

Significant Accounting 
Estimates

• An area of focus under a risk-based audit approach
• Significant estimates include: allowance for contractual adjustments and bad

debts, useful lives assigned to fixed assets, self-funded health insurance
liability, third-party payor settlement estimates, recognition of Provider
Relief Funds

• Estimates determined by management based on their knowledge and experience
• No management bias indicated
• Estimates were deemed reasonable
• Estimate uncertainty is disclosed in the combined financial statements

Significant Financial 
Statement Disclosures

• No sensitive disclosures
• Disclosure of various COVID-19 funding
• No significant subsequent events noted
• No significant risk, exposures, or uncertainties
• No significant unusual transactions
• Disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear

63/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Required Communications

Topic Communication

Management Representation
Letter

• Management provided signed representation letter prior to finalization of the audit
report

Other • No difficulties encountered in performing the audit
• No issues discussed prior to retention as independent auditors
• No disagreements with management regarding accounting, reporting, or other

matters
• No consultations with other independent auditors
• No other findings or issues were discussed with, or communicated to, management

64/173



©
20
21

 C
lif
to
nL
ar
so
nA

lle
n 
LL
P

Internal Control Matters

Topic Communication

Purpose • Express an opinion on the combined financial statements, not on the effectiveness of
internal controls.

• Our consideration of internal controls was not designed to identify all deficiencies in
internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and
therefore material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not
identified. In addition, because of inherent limitations in internal control, including
the possibility of management override of controls, misstatements due to fraud or
error may occur and not be detected by such controls.

Material Weakness • Reasonable possibility that a material misstatement would not be prevented, or
detected and corrected on a timely basis.

Significant Deficiencies • Less significant than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit the
attention of governance.

Restricted Use • This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management,
the finance committee, and others within the Organization, and is not intended to be,
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Results • Material Weakness – Misstatements detected by the audit

65/173



CLAconnect.com

©2021 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an SEC‐registered investment advisor

WEALTH ADVISORY | OUTSOURCING | AUDIT, TAX, AND CONSULTING

Darryn McGarvey, CPA
Principal
Health Care
darryn.mcgarvey@CLAconnect.com
612-376-4624

Daniel Deyle, CPA
Manager
Health Care
daniel.deyle@CLAconnect.com
612-397-3305

66/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 

DRAFT

67/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 1 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 4 

COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 13 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES 
IN NET POSITION 15 

COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 16 

NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 18 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS 34 

 
 

DRAFT

68/173



 

(1) 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Rock Springs, Wyoming 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County (the Hospital), which comprise the combined statements of net position as of June 30, 2022 and 
2021, and the related combined statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position, and 
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the combined financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective combined financial position of the Hospital as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, and 
the respective changes in its net position and its cash flows thereof for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Hospital and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these combined financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of combined financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the combined financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Hospital’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date of the combined financial statements 
are available to be issued. 

DRAFT

69/173



Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(2) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based 
on the combined financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the combined financial statements. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Hospital’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
combined financial statements. 

 
 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the Hospital’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 

DRAFT

70/173



Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(3) 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic combined financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic combined financial statements, is 
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic combined financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic combined financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit 
of the basic combined financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Emphasis of Matter Regarding a Change in Accounting Principle 

As discussed in Note 1 to the combined financial statements, effective July 1, 2021, the Hospital 
adopted new accounting guidance for leases. The guidance requires leases to recognize a right-to-use 
asset and corresponding lease liability and lessors to recognize a lease receivable and corresponding 
deferred inflow of resources for all leases with terms greater than twelve months. Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to that matter. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated  
REPORT DATE, on our consideration of the Hospital’s internal control over financial reporting and on 
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Hospital’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 
REPORT DATE 
 
 

DRAFT

71/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(4) 

 
INTRODUCTION 

This is management’s discussion and analysis of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County‘s (the 
Hospital) financial performance and provides an overview of the Hospital’s financial activities for the 
years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. It should be read in conjunction with the Hospital’s combined 
financial statements, which begin on page 13. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County is a Joint Commission accredited, 99-bed rural acute-care 
facility located in Southwest Wyoming, which services a region exceeding 10,000 square miles. The 
Hospital serves a population in excess of 45,000 in Sweetwater County alone as well as surrounding 
areas. The Hospital provides a vast array of inpatient and outpatient services, emergent care, dialysis, 
occupational medicine, radiation oncology, and hematology oncology services. In addition, the Hospital 
employs over thirty physicians and mid-level providers; successfully building a vibrant list of family, 
internal and specialty medicine clinics. Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County continues to maintain 
a strong, viable presence in the community. Recognizing the need to create a collaborative focus for 
the future and by identifying the opportunity and accountability in the delivery of healthcare for the 
communities the Hospital serves, the following goals and objectives continue to serve as our roadmap 
to guide the Hospital into the future: 
 

Regional Referral Center: Continue efforts to increase presence in Sweetwater County and 
surrounding areas and becoming a regional referral center. 
 
Growth in Services and Programs: Being responsive to the needs of the community by 
maintaining care locally whenever possible by growing service lines and offering new programs, 
which include: 
 

 Radiation and Hematology Oncology 
 Enhanced Orthopedic Surgery 
 Pulmonology 
 Occupational Medicine 
 Telemedicine 
 Neurology 
 Onsite visiting specialty clinics 
 Walk-In Clinic 

 

Medical Staff Development Plan: Work to meet the needs of the community by developing a 
medical staff that will enhance current programs and effectively deliver new services and 
programs. The facility continues to invest in new physicians and analyze replacement positions as 
they become vacant. In fiscal year 2021, we added Neurology to our services offered, hired 
another provider in our OB/Gynecology practice and enhanced our cancer center with a full-time 
Radiation Oncologist. We also opened our new Walk-In Clinic, staffing with two new providers and 
support staff. In fiscal year 2022 we added a permanent pulmonologist to replace the locum 
coverage for Pulmonology. We have added several mid-levels in different practices to compliment 
the Physicians and the increasing volumes in our Clinics. Recognizing the need to balance growth 
with financial stability, the Hospital continues to streamline operations by researching new service 
lines. In fiscal year 2023, we will be adding a part time Urologist to assist with this growing service 
line. We are also looking for Physicians to add to our growing OB/GYN and General Surgery 
practices. 

DRAFT

72/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(5) 

 
INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED) 

Information Technology: Continued adoption of health information technology to improve quality, 
enhance security and meet required measurements while lowering costs. In April of 2022 we 
successfully implemented our new Electronic Health Record. 

 
Joint Board/Medical Staff Decision Making: Create a culture with the board of trustees and the 
Medical Staff that is collaborative and will allow the Hospital to move forward with partnerships 
and/or affiliations that will provide the most comprehensive care for Sweetwater County and its 
surrounding areas. 
 
Strategic Plan: The Hospital began working on the next 3-5-year strategic plan. The plan will 
include strategic pillars in Patient Experience, Workplace Experience, Quality & Safety, Growth & 
Community and Financial Stewardship. These are the drivers that deliver value to the patient. The 
dynamics of health care is changing to focus more on improving the quality of health care rather 
than on the cost of health care. The benefit of delivering quality health care and better customer 
service helps to drive costs down, which creates more value for the patient. Providing the highest 
value of care to the patient through improved quality and better customer service, all at a lower 
cost, is our number one priority.  
 

Patient Experience: The Hospital has been diligent in striving to provide our patients with 
excellent customer service. We have begun implementing the Planetree initiatives surrounding 
patient centered care and are working on training all 500 of our employees over the next two 
years. Our patient satisfaction scores continue to increase with the ongoing efforts of 
improvement. 

 
Workplace Experience:  Through improved communication, professional development and the 
new patient-based culture program, the Hospital strives to be the employer of choice in 
Sweetwater County. 
 
Quality & Safety: The Hospital continues to meet the increasing quality initiatives. Recognizing 
that reimbursement is driven by these efforts, we have created a specialized team to ensure our 
quality measures meet and exceed the standards. We have started implementing LEAN 
process improvements across the house to help with efficiencies and identify waste. 

 
Community & Growth:  The Hospital is building on community partnerships by implementing 
clinic improvements, including better access to care. A Community Health Needs Assessment 
was completed in FY2019 which will be considered in making decisions on new service lines 
and specialties and potential new community relationships. 
 
Financial Stewardship: The Hospital strives to provide quality health care at a lower cost by 
managing expenses and maximizing reimbursement. 

DRAFT

73/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(6) 

 
INTRODUCTION (CONTINUED) 

These strategies will serve as a compass to help guide us to achieve our Mission, Vision and Values 
newly adopted in 2018: 

 
Mission: Compassionate care for every life we touch. 
 
Vision: To be our community’s trusted health care leader. 
 
Values: Be kind. Be respectful. Be accountable. Work collaboratively. Embrace excellence. 
 

The affiliation with the University of Utah allows the Hospital to expand its service line without 
investment into full time staff, facilities and equipment for highly specialized procedures and services 
that would not be economically justifiable given the population size of the primary service area. In 
addition, the affiliation limits outmigration of patients by keeping them close to home, provides a high 
level of specialty care and allows the Hospital to retain revenue that might have otherwise gone to other 
hospitals. Presently, the Hospital is providing telemedicine services for stroke, burn, and ICU services 
to the community as a result of the University of Utah affiliation. The affiliation was renewed again in 
2021 and has added services including Maternal Fetal Medicine and expanded Cardiology and 
Vascular services. Dermatology services through the affiliation began in July 2019. The Hospital staff 
have been able to gain knowledge and skills through education and shadowing at the University of 
Utah. Specialty physicians continue to hold visiting clinics onsite in our Hospital so our patients do not 
need to travel out of state for services. The Hospital continues to look at new services that can be 
offered through the University of Utah. The Hospital also benefits from the affiliations with the 
Huntsman Cancer Center through the University of Utah and the Shriner’s Hospital. 
 
Fiscal year 2022 continued to focus on stabilizing our financial position post pandemic. The Hospital’s 
employed physicians can be found in three different locations; including the Hospital, the attached 
medical office building (MOB) and offsite at the Family and Occupational Medicine Clinic. The Hospital 
continues to grow its services to local industry in Sweetwater County through our Occupational Health 
service line established in 2017. We opened a Walk-In Clinic at the Family Practice building and have 
seen it steadily grow as we offer this new option to our Community. 
 
Quality and patient satisfaction will continue to play a role in hospital reimbursement in the future. The 
Executive Team has been proactive in ensuring that quality outcomes are the best they can be and that 
patient satisfaction scores are in the top percentile.  
 
The Hospital is striving to realize our Vision for the future of providing exceptional patient care by 
focusing on quality and safety of patient care, providing excellent customer service through teamwork 
and a positive culture, increasing market share and service growth and enhanced medical staff 
development. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Foundation (Foundation) was created to help support the 
Hospital. The Foundation was instrumental in assisting the hospital with available grants and 
assistance during the pandemic. The Foundation’s financial statements are included in the combined 
financial statements. The Hospital and the Foundation are collectively referred to as the Hospital 
throughout the combined financial statements.   
 

DRAFT

74/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(7) 

 
COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

The financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on hospitals will continue beyond the actual pandemic. 
It will take time to turnaround the effects of the staffing shortages, inflationary impacts on supplies, 
economic impacts on patient collections and payer mix and the change in the delivery of healthcare. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County was not isolated from the COVID-19 pandemic. While 
Wyoming was delayed in seeing the affects compared to other states, the Hospital started seeing an 
increase in COVID-19 patients in the second half of 2021 when our inpatient units and Emergency 
room was inundated.   
 
Contract staffing became a necessity to maintain staffing levels. As we witnessed nationwide, and have 
previously reported, we had nurses, respiratory technicians and laboratory technicians leave their jobs 
to work for traveling wages. We also saw contract traveler rates immediately increase from $80/hour to 
as much as $215/hour. 
 
Inflation and supply chain issues put pressure on the bottom line. Pharmacy costs, medical supplies, 
utilities and freight expenses increased by more than the reported 8% inflation. Supply chain issues 
also impacted expenses with some vendors requiring bulk purchases to guarantee any product.  This 
has now become a storage and risk of expiration issue.  We have also seen the impact of inflation and 
supply chain issues on our facility and construction projects. 
 
From the economical downfall from the pandemic, we have seen some changes in payer mix and 
collection rates. Nationwide, tens of thousands of people lost their jobs and health insurance. We have 
seen a decrease in our commercial payer mix with a corresponding increase in Medicare and Medicaid 
patients. Our Self-Pay patient mix has remained steady. 
 
Patients continue to defer care, either because of financial restraints or decreased access. We have 
experienced higher acuity patients due to delaying or avoiding care which results in longer lengths of 
stay and higher average daily census. Some of these conditions could have been caught in routine 
physician visits. We are just now starting to see our clinic, surgical and ancillary visits rise back to pre-
pandemic levels. 
 
ELECTRONIC HEALTH RECORD 

In April 2022, after a couple delays, the Hospital implemented Cerner, our new electronic medical 
record (EMR) and patient billing system. As expected with any major conversion, we experienced 
delays in charge capture, coding, billing and collection of patient accounts. This impacted our days in 
accounts receivable and days cash on hand. Cash collections were also reduced as we paid back 
Medicare for the accelerated payments we received in April 2021.  
 
Provider relief funds ended early this year with no new funds allocated to assist with the ongoing impact 
of the pandemic. In fiscal year 2022 the Hospital received about $3 million in assistance in federal 
funds and the Wyoming Hospital Association grants. 

DRAFT

75/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(8) 

 
USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT 

The Hospital’s combined financial statements consist of three statements – a combined statement of 
net position; a combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and a 
combined statement of cash flows. These combined financial statements and related notes provide 
information about the activities of the Hospital, including resources held by the Hospital, but restricted 
for specific purposes by contributors, grantors, or enabling legislation. 
 
FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 The Hospital recorded an operating loss of $4,487,911 and an operating loss of $5,391,614 in 
2022 and 2021, respectively. 

 The Hospital recorded a decrease in overall net position of $3,238,565 and an increase in 
overall net position of $4,867,222 in 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

 The days in net patient accounts receivable are 67 and 43 in 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
 The Hospital’s favorable payer mix has seen some decline due to the weakening statewide 

economy and the aging population. We have seen a growth in Medicare and Medicaid with a 
corresponding decrease in commercial insurance patients.  

 In late FY2020, the COVID-19 pandemic caused revenues to decrease and expenses to 
increase and continued through FY2021. We received CARES Act funds to assist with the lost 
revenue and higher costs. This resulted in an increase in our days cash on hand and is also 
reflected in the variance between operating and total margin. 

 In FY2022 we saw our revenues increase due to the influx of COVID patients but it was not 
enough to offset the growing costs of staffing and supplies. We were able to subsidize our 
operational cash with the CARES Act funding we received in prior years. However, this resulted 
in the decrease in our days cash on hand. 

 
THE COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION AND COMBINED STATEMENTS OF 
REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

One of the most important questions asked about the Hospital’s finances is “Is the Hospital as a whole 
better or worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” The combined statements of net position and the 
combined statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position report information about the 
Hospital’s resources and its activities in a way that helps answer this question. These combined 
statements include all restricted and unrestricted assets and all liabilities using the accrual basis of 
accounting. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are considered regardless of when cash is 
received or paid. 
 
These two combined statements report the Hospital’s net position and changes in them. You can think 
of the Hospital’s net position – the difference between assets and liabilities – as one way to measure 
the Hospital’s financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Hospital’s 
net position are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. You will need 
to consider other nonfinancial factors, however, such as changes in the Hospital’s patient base and 
measures of the quality of service it provides to the community, as well as local economic factors to 
assess the overall health of the Hospital. 

DRAFT

76/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(9) 

 
THE COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 

The final required statement is the combined statement of cash flows. The combined statement reports 
cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from operations, investing, and 
financing activities. It provides answers to such questions as “Where did cash come from?”, “What was 
cash used for?”, and “What was the change in cash balance during the reporting period?” 
 
THE HOSPITAL’S COMBINED NET POSITION 

The Hospital’s combined net position is the difference between its assets and liabilities reported in the 
statement of net position. The Hospital’s net position has decreased by $3,238,565 and increased by 
$4,867,222 in 2022 and 2021, respectively, as shown in Table 1. 
 
TABLE 1: COMBINED ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS, LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 

(As Restated)
2022 2021 2020

ASSETS
Current Assets 35,821,496$       29,313,549$       49,377,465$       
Noncurrent Cash and Investments and Other 22,438,643         38,468,142         23,355,505         
Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 83,227,152         84,278,414         62,969,217         

Total Assets 141,487,291       152,060,105       135,702,187       

Deferred Outflow from Long-Term Debt Refinancing 1,028,699           210,003 222,356

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 142,515,990$     152,270,108$     135,924,543$     

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 16,204,381$       18,307,964$       14,515,749$       
Other Long-Term Liabilities -                          1,539,174           7,436,021           
Long-Term Debt 38,976,149         41,848,945         28,265,970         

Total Liabilities 55,180,530         61,696,083         50,217,740         

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 40,422,064         38,829,880         33,708,054         
Restricted for Debt Service Reserve 637,426              3,015,531           3,030,616           
Restricted by Contributions and Grantors for 
  Capital Acquisition 433,563              394,721              420,981              
Unrestricted 45,842,407         48,333,893         48,547,152         

Total Net Position 87,335,460         90,574,025         85,706,803         

Total Liabilities and Net Position 142,515,990$     152,270,108$     135,924,543$     
 

DRAFT

77/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(10) 

 
COMBINED OPERATING RESULTS AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

In 2022, the Hospital’s net position decreased by $3,238,565 as shown in Table 2. This decrease is 
made up of the following components: 
 
TABLE 2: OPERATING RESULTS AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

(As Restated)
2022 2021 2020

OPERATING REVENUE
Operating Revenues 104,992,942$  93,398,642$    89,215,233$    

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating Expenses 109,480,853    98,790,256      90,749,784      

OPERATING LOSS (4,487,911)       (5,391,614)       (1,534,551)       

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses, Net 641,051           4,681,617        6,239,585        

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES (3,846,860)       (709,997)          4,705,034        

Other Changes in Net Position 608,295           5,577,219        573,155           

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION (3,238,565)       4,867,222        5,278,189        

Net Position - Beginning of Year 90,574,025      85,706,803      80,428,614      

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 87,335,460$    90,574,025$    85,706,803$    

 
OPERATING INCOME 

The first component of the overall change in the Hospital’s net assets is its operating income, generally, 
the difference between net patient service revenue and other operating revenues and the expenses 
incurred to perform those services. In fiscal year 2022 the Hospital reported an operating loss of 
$4,487,911 and in fiscal year 2021 the Hospital reported an operating loss of $5,391,614. 
 
The Hospital provides charity care to the patients who meet Hospital set guidelines. Charges foregone 
for charity care of $2,030,555 and $2,754,609 were provided in 2022 and 2021, respectively. Because 
there is no expectation of payment, charity care is not reported as patient service revenues of the 
Hospital. In 2022 and 2021, assistance funds of $331,910 and $1,448,215, respectively, were received 
from Sweetwater County to help offset the cost of maintenance in the Hospital. 
 
NONOPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES 

Nonoperating revenues and expenses consist primarily of CARES Act funds, rental revenue and 
expenses from Hospital property, investment income, interest expense and residual amounts still 
collected from the special purpose sales tax. The sales tax revenues make up approximately 0.1% and 
0.2% of the total nonoperating revenue for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

DRAFT

78/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(11) 

 
THE HOSPITAL’S CASH FLOWS 

Changes in the Hospital’s cash flows are consistent with changes in operating gains, nonoperating 
revenues and expenses, discussed earlier. The Hospital’s cash and cash equivalents, including 
restricted and designated cash and investments, decreased from $33,783,129 in 2021 to $15,514,855 
in 2022. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital Assets 

At the end of 2022, the Hospital had $83,227,152 invested in capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation. In 2022 and 2021, the Hospital had disbursements of approximately $6,400,000 and 
$11,500,000, respectively, for new equipment and construction-related costs. 
 
Long-Term Debt 

Refinancing: The Hospital had two Variable Rate Demand Notes (VRDNs) outstanding in the amount of 
$25,550,000. These bonds were originally issued in 2006 and 2008 in the aggregate amount of $48.6 
million for the purpose of the Hospital’s major renovation and expansion which was completed in 2009. 
A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2013 bonds were used to refinance the remaining bonds and 
convert them to fixed rate bonds. 
 
Financing Plan: The Series 2013 Bonds were comprised of two components: The first was financing the 
construction and equipping of a medical office building adjacent to the Hospital and the second portion 
was refinancing the Hospital’s approximately $25 million of Variable Rate Demand Notes outstanding, 
backed by a letter of credit from Key Bank, to a fixed rate. 
 
The financing for the MOB was issued as privately placed variable rate bonds to one or more 
commercial banks (the Bank Bonds). While on a parity with other indebtedness, these bonds were 
largely paid from the voter approved Specific Purpose Tax. In November 2012, authorized voters in 
Sweetwater County approved the enactment of a $0.01 Specific Purpose Tax (SPT) in the aggregate 
amount of $81.8 million for qualifying projects. The portion allocable to the Hospital was $18.9 million. 
As part of the structure of the Bank Bonds, the County Treasurer entered into an agreement to send the 
monthly SPT receipts directly to the Bond Trustee with instructions to pay interest due and to redeem 
as much principal of outstanding bonds as such collected receipts permit until the Bonds were paid in 
full. The 2013B Bonds were paid in full as of September 2018. There have been some minimal 
amounts received from the County from late tax collection that remains on the books as a receivable.  
 
In fiscal year 2022, the existing Series 2013A bonds were refinanced for the purpose of saving interest 
costs. The Series 2021 Taxable Hospital Revenue Refunding Bonds (Convertible to Tax -Exempt) were 
executed in December 2021. 
 

DRAFT

79/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(12) 

 
2023 OUTLOOK 

The outlook for 2023 remains stable. The Hospital experienced significant growth in fiscal years 2016 
and 2017 and was successful in decreasing expenses and growing cash in 2018 and 2019. The 
pandemic greatly impacted 2020 and 2021 and continued into 2022. With the Provider Relief Funds 
received through the CARES Act in FY2020 and FY2022, the hospital remained stable. The plan for 
2023 is to remain vigil of the effects of the pandemic. The fiscal year budget reflects an increase in 
gross revenue with continued high costs due to staffing shortages and the inflationary impact on drugs 
and supplies. We are now starting to see our clinic, surgical and ancillary visits rise back to pre-
pandemic levels. 
 
Despite the end of government assistance, the pandemic continues along with the related expenses. 
We will continue to focus on growing new and established physician practices, physician retention, 
increasing revenue through new and expanded services and adapting to the change in payer mix by 
focusing on the revenue cycle. The Executive Team of the Hospital has established a physician 
recruitment plan to sustain both needed specialties and an adequate number of practices in our area. 
 
The Hospital continues to adjust to the changing landscape of the health care industry. The transition 
from inpatient care to outpatient care will affect reimbursement which will require continued monitoring 
and adjusting of expenses and resources. Opportunities to increase outpatient market share and new 
service lines will be the focus in 2023. The Hospital’s goal is to capitalize on the growth in the existing 
physician practices, while expanding health care services that have been absent in Sweetwater County 
and Southwest Wyoming. Depending on the ongoing impact of the pandemic, the hospital is in the 
position to deliver quality patient care, excellent patient satisfaction and continue to increase market 
share; while striving to be fiscally responsible in order to achieve a positive operating margin in fiscal 
year 2023. 
 
CONTACTING THE HOSPITAL’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide our patients, suppliers, taxpayers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the Hospital’s finances and to the Hospital’s accountability for the money it 
receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact the 
Hospital’s Chief Financial Officer at Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County, 1200 College Drive, Rock 
Springs, Wyoming 82901. 
 
 

DRAFT

80/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(13) 

 
(As Restated)

2022 2021
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents 7,504,670$      10,322,421$    
Restricted by Bond Indenture Agreements 637,426           474,823           
Receivables:

Patients, Net of Estimated Uncollectibles of Approximately
  $6,552,000 in 2022 and $5,658,000 in 2021 19,010,390      10,731,043      
Current Maturities of Notes Receivable 201,711           232,472           
Other 2,534,269        1,608,582        

Supplies 4,054,218        3,774,659        
Prepaid Expenses 1,878,812        2,169,549        

Total Current Assets 35,821,496      29,313,549      

NONCURRENT CASH AND INVESTMENTS
Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 433,563           394,721           
Restricted by Bond Indenture Agreements -                       2,540,708        
Board Designated 21,485,576      34,977,522      

Total Noncurrent Cash and Investments 21,919,139      37,912,951      

CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 83,227,152      84,278,414      

OTHER ASSETS
Rental Property, Net 268,926           296,224           
Notes Receivable, Less Current Maturities 154,285           182,068           
Other Assets 96,293             76,899             

Total Other Assets 519,504           555,191           

Total Assets 141,487,291    152,060,105    

DEFERRED OUTFLOW FROM LONG-TERM DEBT REFINANCING 1,028,699        210,003           

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 142,515,990$  152,270,108$  

 
 

DRAFT

81/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION (CONTINUED) 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(14) 

 
(As Restated)

2022 2021
LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 3,706,545$      2,333,120$      
Accounts Payable 5,269,236        4,548,323        
Construction Payables 122,394           1,266,469        
Estimated Third-Party Payor Settlements 231,786           262,495           
Other Current Liabilities 1,255,068 4,958,823        
Accrued Expenses:

Salaries, Wages and Payroll Taxes 1,787,857        1,555,116        
Vacation 2,804,901        2,537,176        
Health Insurance Claims 725,000           400,000           
Interest 301,594           446,442           

Total Current Liabilities 16,204,381      18,307,964      

OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES -                       1,539,174        

LONG-TERM DEBT, LESS CURRENT MATURITIES 38,976,149      41,848,945      

Total Liabilities 55,180,530      61,696,083      

NET POSITION
Net Investment in Capital Assets 40,422,064      38,829,880      
Restricted for Debt Service Reserve 637,426           3,015,531        
Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 433,563           394,721           
Unrestricted 45,842,407      48,333,893      

Total Net Position 87,335,460      90,574,025      

Total Liabilities and Net Position 142,515,990$  152,270,108$  

 
 

DRAFT

82/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND 

CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 

 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(15) 

 
(As Restated)

2022 2021
OPERATING REVENUES

Net Patient Service Revenue (Net of Provision for Bad Debts of
  Approximately $11,722,000 in 2022 and $12,094,000 in 2021) 102,961,872$  91,020,496$    
Other Operating Revenues 2,031,070        2,378,146        

Total Operating Revenues 104,992,942    93,398,642      

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and Wages 44,570,949      44,544,749      
Employee Benefits 12,961,824      11,656,634      
Professional Fees - Physicians 4,370,089        3,502,937        
Purchased Services 12,380,609      6,552,944        
Supplies 17,625,662      15,958,931      
Repairs and Maintenance 5,964,482        5,685,327        
Insurance 660,288           511,049           
Utilities 1,173,797        1,110,670        
Leases and Rental 380,389           745,510           
Depreciation 7,475,835        6,826,755        
Other Expenses 1,916,929        1,694,750        

Total Operating Expenses 109,480,853    98,790,256      

OPERATING LOSS (4,487,911)       (5,391,614)       

NONOPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Interest Income 243,145           299,144           
Interest Expense (1,715,858)       (1,410,514)       
Bond Issuance Costs (428,105)          -                       
Rent and Other 146,050           185,898           
Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets (184,392)          36,435             
Sales Tax Revenues 1,778               12,158             
Unrealized Loss on Investments (587,380)          (154,361)          
Grant Revenue 3,127,087        5,785,014        
Restricted Gifts and Grants 129,007           440,958           
Grants Expended for Operations (90,281)            (513,115)          

Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses, Net 641,051           4,681,617        

DEFICIT OF REVENUE OVER EXPENSES (3,846,860)       (709,997)          

Capital Grants and Contributions 608,295           5,577,219        

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION (3,238,565)       4,867,222        

Net Position - Beginning of Year - As Previously Stated 90,574,025      85,706,803      

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR - AS PREVIOUSLY STATED 87,335,460$    90,574,025$    
 

 

DRAFT

83/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(16) 

 
(As Restated)

2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from and on Behalf of Patients 94,651,816$    90,758,030$   
Other Receipts and Payments, Net (4,135,768)       (3,470,273)      
Cash Paid to Employees (56,707,307)     (55,970,374)    
Cash Paid to Suppliers and Others (43,740,154)     (35,195,578)    

  Net Cash Used by Operating Activities (9,931,413)       (3,878,195)      

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Restricted, Gifts, Grants, and Other Changes, 
  Net of Expended for Operations 3,165,813        5,712,857       

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND CAPITAL RELATED
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Construction and Purchase of Capital Assets (6,369,335)       (11,519,062)    
Capital Grants and Contributions 608,295           5,577,219       
Payment of Issuance Costs (428,105)          -                      
Loss on Refinancing of Debt (2,000,101)       -                      
Proceeds from Long-Term Debt 26,835,000      -                      
Principal Paid on Long-Term Debt (28,739,478)     (308,044)         
Interest Paid on Long-Term Debt (1,630,601)       (1,456,737)      

Net Cash Used by Capital and Capital
  Related Financing Activities (11,724,325)     (7,706,624)      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment Income (344,235)          144,783          
Rent and Other 146,050           185,898          
(Increase) Decrease of Notes Receivable 32,206             (27,063)           
Receipts of Notes Receivable 6,944               -                      
Purchases of Investments (5,277,174)       (7,376,440)      
Proceeds from Sale of Investments 5,657,860        7,423,547       

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 221,651           350,725          

DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (18,268,274)     (5,521,237)      

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 33,783,129      39,304,366     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 15,514,855$    33,783,129$   
 

 
 

DRAFT

84/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

See accompanying Notes to Combined Financial Statements. 
(17) 

 
(As Restated)

2022 2021
RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO
  THE STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

Cash and Cash Equivalents in Current Assets 7,504,670$      10,322,421$   
Cash and Cash Equivalents in Restricted by Bond
  Indenture Agreements (Current and Noncurrent) 637,426        3,015,531    
Cash and Cash Equivalents in Designated by Board
  for Capital Improvements 6,939,196     20,050,456  
Cash and Cash Equivalents Restricted
  by Contributors and Grantors 433,563        394,721       

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 15,514,855$    33,783,129$   

Total Noncurrent Cash and Investments Included Above 7,372,759$      22,985,885$   

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET 
  CASH USED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating Loss (4,487,911)$     (5,391,614)$    
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Loss
  to Net Cash Used by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 7,475,835        6,826,755       
Provision for Bad Debts 11,722,031      12,093,691     
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Receivables (20,925,287)     (12,098,581)    
Supplies (279,559)          (566,119)         
Prepaid Expenses 290,737           (34,132)           
Accounts Payable 720,913           1,166,791       
Accrued Expenses 825,466           231,009          
Other Liabilities (5,242,929)       (938,024)         
Unearned Revenue -                       (5,280,466)      
Estimated Third-Party Payor Settlements (30,709)            112,495          

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities (9,931,413)$     (3,878,195)$    

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Fixed Assets Included in Accounts Payable 122,394$         1,266,469$     

 
 

DRAFT

85/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(18) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County (Hospital) is a 99-bed general acute care facility 
located in Rock Springs, Wyoming. The Hospital’s primary mission is to provide health care 
to the residents of Sweetwater County through its acute care services. The Hospital is a 
component unit of Sweetwater County, Wyoming (County) and participates in the County’s 
tax levies. The Hospital, as a component unit of the County, is exempt from income taxes 
under current regulations. 
 
The Hospital is governed by a board of trustees, which has all of the powers necessary and 
convenient to provide for the acquisition, betterment, operation, maintenance, and 
administration of the facilities as the board of trustees determines to be necessary and 
expedient. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County Foundation (Foundation) is a Wyoming nonprofit 
corporation that is reported as a blended component unit of the Hospital. The Foundation’s 
sole purpose is to support the Hospital. The Foundation is a nonprofit corporation as 
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and is exempt from 
federal income taxes on related income pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the IRC. The 
Foundation has $3,634,069 and $3,201,677 of assets and $510,103 and $489,298 of 
revenue for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
 
Collectively, Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County and Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater 
County Foundation are referred to as the Hospital in the combined financial statements. 
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in the accounts 
and reported in the combined financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing 
of the measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied. The Hospital’s 
combined financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America as prescribed by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The accompanying combined financial statements 
have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred. 
 
The Hospital uses enterprise fund accounting. Revenues and expenses are recognized on 
the accrual basis, using the economic resources measurement focus, based on GASB 
Codification Topic 1600, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Funds and 
Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, as amended. 
 

DRAFT

86/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(19) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include deposits and highly liquid investments with an original 
maturity of three months or less, unless otherwise designated or restricted. 
 
Patient Receivables 

Patient receivables are uncollateralized patient and third-party payor obligations. Payments 
of patient receivables are allocated to the specific claims identified in the remittance advice 
or, if unspecified, are applied to the earliest unpaid claim. 
 
The carrying amount of patient receivables is reduced by a valuation allowance that reflects 
management’s estimate of amounts that will not be collected from patients and third-party 
payors. Management reviews patient receivables by payor class and applies percentages to 
determine estimated amounts that will not be collected from third parties under contractual 
agreements and amounts that will not be collected from patients due to bad debts. 
Management considers historical write-off and recovery information in determining the 
estimated bad debt provision. 
 
Supplies 

Supplies are stated at lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. 
 
Noncurrent Cash and Investments 

Interest and dividends are included in nonoperating revenues when earned. Interest 
earnings on borrowed proceeds for capital acquisition are capitalized. 
 
The Hospital’s investments are maintained in accordance with Wyoming Statute 9-4-831. 
This statute limits the types of investments the Hospital may invest in as listed in 
Section 9-4-831(a). The Hospital has adopted an investment policy as directed under 
Section 9-4-831(h). 
 
Restricted investments consist of funds restricted in accordance with bond indenture 
agreements, funds restricted by donor for an endowment and purchase of equipment, and 
funds restricted by the board for capital improvements. Restricted investments that are 
available for obligations classified as current liabilities are reported in current assets. All 
investments are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market prices. 

DRAFT

87/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(20) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets acquisitions in excess of $5,000 are capitalized and recorded at historical 
cost. Contributed capital assets are reported at their estimated fair value at the time of their 
donation. All capital assets other than land are depreciated or amortized (in the case of 
capital leases) using the straight-line method of depreciation using these asset lives: 
 

Land Improvements  5 to 20 Years  
Buildings  5 to 40 Years  
Moveable Equipment  3 to 20 Years 

 
Notes Receivable 

Notes receivable are stated at principal amounts and are uncollateralized. Payments on 
notes receivable are allocated to the outstanding principal and accrued interest balances. 
Management reviews all notes receivable periodically and estimates a portion, if any, of the 
balance that will not be collected. 
 
Trust Funds 

The Hospital acts as custodian for the funds of Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Auxiliary. Trust funds and the related liability are included in cash and accounts payable in 
the combined financial statements. The balance of these funds was $111,688 and $111,279 
at June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
 
Compensated Absences 

The Hospital’s employees earn paid-time-off and sick leave at varying rates depending on 
years of service. Paid-time-off and sick leave accumulate up to a specified maximum 
depending upon length of service. Employees are paid for accumulated paid-time-off upon 
termination. Sick leave accumulated is forfeited upon termination. 
 
Self-Funded Health Insurance 

The provision for estimated health insurance claims includes estimates of the ultimate costs 
for both reported claims and claims incurred but not reported. 
 
Restricted Resources 

When the Hospital has both restricted and unrestricted resources available to finance a 
particular program, it is the Hospital’s policy to use restricted resources before unrestricted 
resources. 

DRAFT

88/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(21) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Net Position 

Net position of the Hospital is classified in four components. Net position invested in capital 
assets consist of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the current 
balances of any outstanding borrowings used to finance the purchase or construction of 
those assets. Restricted for debt service reserve and restricted by contributors and grantors 
is the noncapital net position that must be used for a particular purpose, as specified by 
creditors, grantors, or contributors external to the Hospital. Unrestricted net position is the 
remaining net position that does not meet the definition of invested in capital assets or 
restricted. 
 
Operating Revenues and Expenses 

The Hospital’s combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position 
distinguishes between operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses. Operating 
revenues result from exchange transactions associated with providing health care services – 
the Hospital’s principal activity. Nonexchange revenues, including taxes, grants, and 
contributions received for purposes other than capital asset acquisition, are reported as 
nonoperating revenues. Operating expenses are all expenses incurred to provide health 
care services, other than financing costs. 
 
Net Patient Service Revenue 

The Hospital has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the 
Hospital at amounts different from its established rates. Payment arrangements include 
prospectively determined rates, reimbursed costs, discounted charges, and per diem 
payments. Net patient service revenue is reported at the estimated net realizable amounts 
from patients, third-party payors, and others for services rendered, including estimated 
retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-party payors. 
Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the related 
services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as final settlements are determined. 
 
Charity Care 

To fulfill its mission of community service, the Hospital provides care to patients who meet 
certain criteria under its charity care policy without charge or at amounts less than its 
established rates. Because the Hospital does not pursue collection of amounts determined 
to qualify as charity care, they are not reported as net patient service revenue. 
 

DRAFT

89/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(22) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Relief Funds 

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the spread of Coronavirus Disease 
(COVID-19) a worldwide pandemic. Given the significant impact the pandemic had on global 
markets, supply chains, businesses and communities, the U.S. Department of Health and 
Human Services (HHS) made available emergency relief grant funds to health care 
providers. Additionally, the State Loan and Investment Board (SLIB) made available multiple 
preparedness and response grants. Total grant funds approved and received by the 
Hospital from these grants was $19,387,442 from April 2020 through June 2022. The grant 
funds are subject to certain restrictions on eligible expenses or uses, and reporting 
requirements. Of the total amount received, $2,453,201 and 10,361,898 is reported as Grant 
Revenue or Capital Grants and Contributions in the combined statements of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net position for the years ending June 30, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.  
 
Specific to the Hospital, COVID-19 may impact various parts of its 2023 operations and 
financial results including but not limited to additional costs for emergency preparedness, 
disease control and containment, potential shortages of health care personnel, or loss of 
revenue due to reductions in certain revenue streams. Management believes the Hospital is 
taking appropriate actions to mitigate the negative impact. However, the full impact of 
COVID-19 is unknown and cannot be reasonably estimated as of June 30, 2022. 
 
Other Current Liabilities 

As part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act the Centers for 
Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) administered an Accelerated and Advanced Payment 
Program to provide additional relief funds to providers. During the year ended June 30, 2020 
the Hospital received total advanced funds through the Accelerated and Advanced Payment 
Program of $7,436,021, which started being recouped by CMS one year from the date the 
funds were received. During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, $5,242,929 and 
$938,024, respectively, was paid back to CMS. At June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, 
$1,255,068 and $6,497,997 of funds are reflected as Other Current Liabilities or Other Long-
Term Liabilities on the combined statements of net position. 
 
County Support 

The Hospital received approximately $332,000 and $1,448,000 or 0.3% and 1.4% of total 
operating and nonoperating revenue in direct financial support from the County, for the 
years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The amount received is reported as 
Other Operating Revenues or Capital Grants and Contributions in the combined statements 
of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. The primary source of the funds is from 
the general funds of the County. The Hospital applies to the County for these funds, which 
the County distributes through resolution. For both years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, 
these funds were used to reimburse the Hospital for maintenance expenses. 

DRAFT

90/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(23) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Grants and Contributions 

From time to time, the Hospital receives grants and contributions from individuals and 
private organizations. Revenues from grants and contributions (including contributions of 
capital assets) are recognized when all eligibility requirements, including time requirements, 
are met. Grants and contributions may be restricted for either specific operating purposes or 
for capital purposes. Amounts that are unrestricted or that are restricted to a specific 
operating purpose are reported as nonoperating revenues. Amounts restricted for capital 
acquisitions are reported after nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
 
Advertising Costs 

The Hospital expenses advertising costs as incurred. 
 
Risk Management 

The Hospital is exposed to various risks of loss from torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; business interruption; errors and omissions; employee injuries and 
illnesses; natural disasters; medical malpractice; and employee health, dental, and accident 
benefits. Commercial insurance coverage is purchased for claims arising from such matters. 
Settled claims have not exceeded this commercial coverage in any of the three preceding 
years. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 

To the extent available, the Hospital’s investments are recorded at fair value. GASB 
Statement No. 72 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. This statement establishes a hierarchy of valuation inputs based on the 
extent to which inputs are observable in the marketplace. Inputs are used in applying the 
various valuation techniques and take in to account the assumptions that market 
participants use to make valuation decisions. Inputs may include price information, credit 
data, interest and yield curve data, and other factors specific to the financial instrument. 
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources. 
 
In contrast, unobservable inputs reflect an entity’s assumptions about how market 
participants would value the financial instrument. Valuation techniques should maximize the 
use of observable inputs to the extent available. A financial instrument’s level within the fair 
value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 

DRAFT

91/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(24) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Fair Value Measurements (Continued) 

The following describes the hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value and the primary 
valuation methodologies used for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis: 
 

Level 1 – Inputs that utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the Hospital has the ability to access. 
 
Level 2 – Inputs that include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active 
markets and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. Fair values for these 
instruments are estimated using pricing models, quoted prices of securities with similar 
characteristics, or discounted cash flows. 
 
Level 3 – Inputs that are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which are typically 
based on an entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any, related market activity. 

 
Adoption of New Accounting Standards 

In June 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued GASB 
Statement No. 87, Leases. This standard requires the recognition of certain lease assets 
and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and as inflow of 
resources or outflows of resources recognized based on the payment provisions of the 
contracts. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational 
principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this 
standard, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use 
asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of 
resources.  DRAFT

92/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(25) 

 
NOTE 1 ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(CONTINUED) 

Adoption of New Accounting Standards (Continued) 

The Hospital adopted the requirements of the guidance effective July 1, 2021 and has 
applied the provisions of this standard to the beginning of the earliest comparative period 
presented. The impact of adopting GASB Statement No. 87 on the statement of net position 
and statement of revenues, expenses, and changed in net position as of June 30, 2021 was 
as follows:  
 

As Previously
Reported Adjustment As Restated

Combined Statement of Net Position
  Noncurrent Assets
    Capital Assets, Net 68,128,135$     16,150,279$     84,278,414$     

  Current Liabilities
    Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt 319,366            2,013,754         2,333,120         

  Noncurrent Liabilities
    Long-Term Debt, Less Current Maturities 27,888,861       13,960,084       41,848,945       

  Net Position
    Unrestricted 90,397,584       176,441            90,574,025       

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
 and Changes in Net Position
  Expenses
    Repairs and Maintenance 5,957,989$       (272,662)$        5,685,327$       

  Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses
    Interest Expense (1,314,293)       (96,221)            (1,410,514)       

 
 

NOTE 2 CHARITY CARE 

The Hospital maintains records to identify and monitor the level of charity care it provides. 
These records include the amount of charges foregone for services and supplies furnished 
under its charity care policy, and an estimated cost (based on cost to charge ratio) of those 
services and supplies. The estimated costs and expenses incurred to provide charity care 
for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, was approximately $879,000 and $1,165,000, 
respectively. 
 

DRAFT

93/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(26) 

 
NOTE 3 NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE 

The Hospital has agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments to the 
Hospital at amounts different from its established rates. A summary of the payment 
arrangements with major third-party payors follows: 
 

Medicare 

Acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries were paid at 
prospectively determined rates per visit. These rates varied according to a patient 
classification system that was based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. The 
Hospital is entitled to certain additional payments on a sole community provider. The 
Hospital is reimbursed for these payments after submission of annual cost reports by the 
Hospital and audits thereof by the Medicare fiscal intermediary. The Hospital’s Medicare 
cost reports have been finalized by the Medicare fiscal intermediary through the year 
ended June 30, 2018. The Hospital’s classification of patients under the Medicare 
program and the appropriateness of their admission are subject to an independent 
review by a peer review organization under contract with the Hospital. 
 
Medicaid 

Acute care services provided to Medicaid program beneficiaries are paid at prospectively 
determined rates per discharge. These rates vary according to a patient classification 
system that is based on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. 
 
Blue Cross 

Inpatient and outpatient services provided to Blue Cross subscribers are paid at 
established charges except for physician services that are reimbursed based on fee 
screens. 

 
Revenue from the Medicare and Medicaid programs accounted for approximately 22% and 
8%, respectively, of the Hospital’s net patient service revenue for the year ended June 30, 
2022 and 27% and 5%, respectively, of the Hospital’s net service patient revenue for the 
year ended June 30, 2021. Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid 
programs are extremely complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a 
reasonable possibility that recorded estimates will change by a material amount in the near 
term. 
 
The Hospital has also entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance 
carriers and other organizations. The basis for payment to the Hospital under these 
agreements includes charges, prospectively determined rates per discharge, and 
prospectively determined daily rates. 

DRAFT

94/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(27) 

 
NOTE 3 NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE (CONTINUED) 

A summary of patient service revenue, contractual adjustments, and provision for bad debts 
for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows: 
 

2022 2021
Gross Patient Service Revenue 205,689,842$  184,339,029$  

Adjustments and Discounts:
Medicare (56,844,224)     (45,429,020)     
Medicaid (12,996,738)     (12,199,444)     
Other Third-Party Payors (21,164,977)     (23,596,378)     
Provision for Bad Debts (11,722,031)     (12,093,691)     

   Total Adjustments and Discounts (102,727,970)   (93,318,533)     

Net Patient Service Revenue 102,961,872$  91,020,496$    

 
 

NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS  

Deposits 

The Hospital’s deposits are subject to, and in accordance with, Wyoming State Statutes. 
Under these statutes, all uninsured deposits are fully collateralized. The eligible collateral 
pledged shall be held in custody of any Federal Reserve Bank, or branch thereof, or held in 
escrow by some other bank in a manner as the banking commissioner shall prescribe be 
rules and regulations, or may be segregated from the other assets of the eligible public 
depository and held in its own trust department. All collateral so held shall be clearly 
identified as being security maintained or pledged for the aggregate amount of public 
deposits accepted and held on deposit by the eligible public depository. The depository has 
the right at any time to make substitutions of eligible collateral maintained or pledged and 
shall at all times be entitled to collect and retain all income derived from those investments 
with restrictions. The Hospital may legally invest in direct obligations of and other obligations 
guaranteed as to principal by the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies and instrumentalities. 
 
The Hospital’s investments are recorded at fair value and consist of cash and cash 
equivalents and U.S. agency obligations. As of June 30, 2022 and 2021, management 
believes the investments were in compliance with the defined rating and risk criteria set forth 
under Wyoming regulations. 
 
The Hospital provides for investment in a variety of investment funds. In general, 
investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit, and overall market 
volatility risk. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is reasonably 
possible that changes in the values of the investments will occur in the near term and that 
such changes could materially affect the Hospital’s account balances. 
 

DRAFT

95/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(28) 

 
NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Investments 

The Hospital’s investments are reported at fair value as discussed in Note 1. At June 30, 
2022 and 2021, the Hospital had the following investments and maturities, all of which were 
held in the Hospital’s name by a custodial bank that is an agent of the Hospital. 
 

2022
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 Credit Rating

Money Market 2,330,181$     2,330,181$     -$                    -$                    N/A
Brokered Certificates of Deposit 5,214,965       2,564,942       2,650,023       -                      AA+ or AAA
U.S. Treasury 1,859,774       671,842          1,187,932       -                      AA or AAA
Federal Farm Credit Bank Loan 371,354          -                      371,354          -                      AA or AAA
Federal Home Loan Bank 3,126,882       -                      3,126,882       -                      AA or AAA
Federal National Mortgage 1,643,224       1,227,699       415,525          -                      AA or AAA

Total Investments 14,546,380$   6,794,664$     7,751,716$     -$                    

Investment Maturity (in Years)

2021
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1 to 5 6 to 10 Credit Rating

Money Market 43,928$          43,928$          -$                    -$                    N/A
Brokered Certificates of Deposit 7,545,672       2,041,134       5,259,036       245,502          AA+ or AAA
Federal Farm Credit Bank Loan 3,869,119       2,803,143       1,065,976       -                      AA or AAA
Federal Home Loan Bank 992,940          -                      992,940          -                      AA or AAA
Federal National Mortgage 2,475,407       -                      2,475,407       -                      AA or AAA

Total Investments 14,927,066$   4,888,205$     9,793,359$     245,502$        

Investment Maturity (in Years)

 
The carrying values of deposits shown above are included in the combined statements of 
net position as follows: 
 

2022 2021
Carrying Value:

Deposits 15,403,125$    33,671,808$    
WYO-STAR State Pooled Funds 111,730           111,321           
Investments 14,546,380      14,927,066      

Total Deposits and Investments 30,061,235$    48,710,195$    

Included in the Following Balance Sheet Captions:
Cash and Cash Equivalents 7,504,670$      10,322,421$    
Restricted by Contributors and Grantors 433,563           394,721           
Restricted by Bond Indenture Agreements 637,426           3,015,531        
Designated by Board for Capital Improvements 21,485,576      34,977,522

Total Deposits and Investments 30,061,235$    48,710,195$    
 

DRAFT

96/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(29) 

 
NOTE 4 DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 

Fair Value Measurements 

The Hospital uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain 
assets and liabilities and to determine fair value disclosures. For additional information on 
how the Hospital measures fair value refer to Note 1 – Organization and Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies. The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for the 
balances of the assets and liabilities of the Hospital measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis as of June 30, 2022 and 2021 : 
 

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Brokered Certificates of Deposit 5,214,965$     -$                    -$                    5,214,965$     
U.S. Government Agencies -                      7,001,234       -                      7,001,234       

Total 5,214,965$     7,001,234$     -$                    12,216,199$   

Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Brokered Certificates of Deposit 7,545,672$     -$                    -$                    7,545,672$     
U.S. Government Agencies -                      7,337,466       -                      7,337,466       

Total 7,545,672$     7,337,466$     -$                    14,883,138$   

2021

2022

 
Interest Income 

Interest income of $243,145 and $299,144 for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively, is made up entirely of interest income from deposits. 
 
 

NOTE 5 PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Patient accounts receivable for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 consists of the 
following: 
 

2022 2021
Receivable from Patients and Their Insurance Carriers 20,822,695$    14,636,155$    
Receivable from Medicare 3,926,852        1,467,738        
Receivable from Medicaid 812,843           285,150           

Total Patient Accounts Receivable 25,562,390      16,389,043      
Less: Estimated Allowance for Uncollectible Amounts (6,552,000)       (5,658,000)       

Net Patient Accounts Receivable 19,010,390$    10,731,043$    

 
 

NOTE 6 DESIGNATED NET POSITION 

Of the $45,842,407 and $48,333,893 of unrestricted net position reported in 2022 and 2021, 
$21,485,576 and $34,977,522, respectively, are reserve funds to be used at the discretion 
of the Board of Trustees as deemed necessary. 
 

DRAFT

97/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(30) 

 
NOTE 7 CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital assets additions, retirements, and balances for the years ended June 30, 2022 and 
2021 are as follows: 
 

Balance Balance
June 30, Transfers June 30,

 2021 Additions Retirements  2022 
Land   18,245$          -$                    -$                    18,245$            
Land Improvements 4,006,914       -                      217,135          4,224,049          
Buildings 41,264,157     -                      7,649,752       48,913,909        
Equipment 129,870,285   1,645,994       (647,138)         130,869,141      

Totals at Historical Cost 175,159,601   1,645,994       7,219,749       184,025,344      
Less:  Accumulated Depreciation for:

Land Improvements (2,954,078)      (187,357)         123,143          (3,018,292)        
Buildings (17,196,225)    (1,279,465)      1,039,992       (17,435,698)      
Equipment (78,847,132)    (5,981,716)      3,665,074       (81,163,774)      

Total Accumulated Depreciation (98,997,435)    (7,448,538)      4,828,209       (101,617,764)    
Capital Assets, Net before Construction
  in Progress 76,162,166     (5,802,544)      12,047,958     82,407,580        
Construction in Progress 8,116,248       6,919,970       (14,216,646)    819,572            

Capital Assets, Net 84,278,414$   1,117,426$     (2,168,688)$    83,227,152$      

Balance Balance
June 30, Transfers June 30,

 2020 Additions Retirements  2021 
Land   18,245$          -$                    -$                    18,245$            
Land Improvements 3,509,442       -                      497,472          4,006,914          
Buildings 38,087,662     -                      3,176,495       41,264,157        
Equipment 110,074,716   16,916,609     2,878,960       129,870,285      

Totals at Historical Cost 151,690,065   16,916,609     6,552,927       175,159,601      
Less: Accumulated Depreciation for:

Land Improvements (2,807,676)      (146,402)         -                      (2,954,078)        
Buildings (16,178,790)    (1,017,435)      -                      (17,196,225)      
Equipment (73,578,046)    (5,635,621)      366,535          (78,847,132)      

Total Accumulated Depreciation (92,564,512)    (6,799,458)      366,535          (98,997,435)      
Capital Assets, Net before Construction
  in Progress 59,125,553     10,117,151     6,919,462       76,162,166        
Construction in Progress 3,843,664       12,453,013     (8,180,429)      8,116,248          

Capital Assets, Net 62,969,217$   22,570,164$   (1,260,967)$    84,278,414$      

 
Construction in progress at June 30, 2022 is related to the lab expansion project and the 
building automation project. The lab expansion project has an estimated total cost of 
approximately $3,500,000 and is expected to be completed during fiscal year 2023. The 
building automation project has an estimated total cost of approximately $905,000 and is 
expected to be completed in October 2022. The projects will be financed with internal funds. 
 

Right of use assets are as follows as of June 30: 
 

2022 2021
Equipment 20,231,858$    18,875,450$    
Less: Accumulated Amortization (1,809,404)       (1,111,621)       

   Total 18,422,454$    17,763,829$    

DRAFT

98/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(31) 

 
NOTE 8 LONG-TERM DEBT 

Long-term debt at June 30, 2022 and 2021 consists of the following: 
 

Balance Balance Amount
June 30, June 30, Due Within

 2021 Additions Reductions  2022  One Year 
Hospital Revenue Bonds:

Series 2013A 26,790,000$   -$                    (26,790,000)$    -$                    -$                    
Series 2013A Bond Premium 952,753          -                      (952,753)          -                      -                      
Series 2021 -                      26,835,000     -                       26,835,000     515,000          

Total Bonds 27,742,753     26,835,000     (27,742,753)      26,835,000     515,000          

Siemen's Note Payable 103,823          -                      (103,823)          -                      -                      
Finance Leases 16,335,489     1,356,407       (1,845,655)        15,846,241     3,191,545       

Total Notes from Direct Borrowings
   and Capital Lease Obligations 16,439,312     1,356,407       (1,949,478)        15,846,241     3,191,545       

Total Long-Term Debt 44,182,065$   28,191,407$   (29,692,231)$    42,681,241$   3,706,545$     

Balance Balance Amount
June 30, June 30, Due Within

2020 Additions Reductions 2021 One Year
Hospital Revenue Bonds:

Series 2013A 26,790,000$   -$                    -$                     26,790,000$   -$                    
Series 2013A Bond Premium 1,010,496       -                      (57,743)            952,753          -                      

Total Bonds 27,800,496     -                      (57,743)            27,742,753     -                      

Siemen's Note Payable 202,823          -                      (99,000)            103,823          103,823          
Finance Leases 570,695          16,916,608     (1,151,814)        16,335,489     2,229,297       

Total Notes from Direct Borrowings
   and Capital Lease Obligations 773,518          16,916,608     (1,250,814)        16,439,312     2,333,120       

Total 28,574,014$   16,916,608$   (1,308,557)$      44,182,065$   2,333,120$     
 

 

The terms and due dates of the Hospital’s long-term debt at June 30, 2022 are as follows: 
 

 Sweetwater County, Wyoming Taxable Hospital Revenue Refunding Bond 
(Convertible to Tax-Exempt) Series 2021 (Memorial Hospital Project), dated 
December 17, 2021. Interest is due semi-annually to September 2036 at a 3.19% 
rate. Bonds are secured by Hospital revenues.  

 Sweetwater County, Wyoming (Memorial Hospital) Hospital Revenue Refunding 
Bonds Series 2013A, dated June 20, 2013. Interest was due annually to September 
2037 at a 5% rate. Bonds were secured by Hospital revenues. Bonds were 
refinanced in December 2021 with the Series 2021 bonds. 

 Siemen’s Note Payable, payable in monthly installments of $8,877, including 
interest at 4.76%, through June 2022. 

 Finance Leases, payable in monthly installments ranging from $18,430 to $114,445, 
with interest rates ranging from 0.70% to 2.68%, through September 2030. 
 

Restrictive Covenants 

The Hospital is required to meet certain financial and nonfinancial covenants. Management 
believes the Hospital was in compliance with the restrictive covenants as of June 30, 2022 
and 2021, respectively. 

DRAFT

99/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(32) 

 
NOTE 8 LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 

Scheduled principal and interest payments on long-term debt and finance leases are as 
follows: 
 

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 515,000$        846,759$        3,191,545$     149,798$        3,706,545$     996,557$        
2024 1,455,000       690,140          2,768,833       90,083            4,223,833       - 780,223          
2025 1,630,000       605,339          2,560,869       62,222            4,190,869       - 667,561          
2026 1,675,000       563,745          1,557,687       45,552            3,232,687       - 609,297          
2027 1,715,000       521,082          1,337,382       35,958            3,052,382       - 557,040          

2028 to 2032 9,285,000       1,925,442       4,429,925       51,660            13,714,925     - 1,977,102       
2033 to 2037 10,560,000     678,362          -                      -                      10,560,000     - 678,362          

Total 26,835,000$   5,830,869$     15,846,241$   435,273$        42,681,241$   6,266,142$     

Bonds Finance Leases Total Long-Term Debt

 
 
 

NOTE 9 PENSION PLANS 

The Hospital has a Section 457 defined contribution pension plan that is available to all 
qualified Hospital employees. Employees are eligible to participate in the plan upon 
completion of three months of service. The Hospital’s matching contributions are deposited 
into the 401(a) plan described below. 
 
The Hospital has a Section 401(a) defined contribution pension plan that is available to all 
qualified Hospital employees. The Hospital’s contribution is based on a 100% match of 
employee contributions up to a maximum of 7% of participant salaries. Employees are 
eligible to participate in the plan upon completion of one year of service. 
 
The pension expense for the years ended June 30, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was $1,788,966, 
$1,739,138, and $1,608,185, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 10 CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 

The Hospital grants credit without collateral to its patients, most of who are insured under 
third-party payor agreements. The mix of patient receivables from third-party payors and 
patients at June 30, 2022 and 2021 was as follows: 
 

2022 2021
Medicare 30 % 21 %
Medicaid 9 6
Blue Cross 13 14
Other Third-Party Payors 28 24
Patients 20 35

Total 100 % 100 %

 

DRAFT

100/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
NOTES TO COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2022 AND 2021 
 
 
 

(33) 

 
NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Malpractice Insurance 

The Hospital has malpractice insurance coverage to provide protection for professional 
liability losses on a claims-made basis subject to a limit of $1 million per claim and an annual 
aggregate limit of $3 million. There is additional excess coverage above this limit up to $10 
million. Effective May 1, 2020 this excess coverage was decreased to $5 million. Should the 
claims-made policy not be renewed or replaced with equivalent insurance, claims based on 
occurrences during its term, but reported subsequently, would be uninsured. 
 
Self-Funded Health Insurance 

The Hospital self-funds health benefits for eligible employees and their dependents. Health 
insurance expense is recorded on an accrual basis. An accrued liability is recorded in the 
combined financial statements, which estimates the claims incurred but not yet reported and 
claims reported but not yet paid. The Hospital has stop loss insurance to cover catastrophic 
claims. The Hospital expensed amounts representing the employer’s portion of actual claims 
paid, adjusted for the actuarially determined estimates of liabilities relating to claims 
resulting from services provided prior to the respective fiscal period-end. The Hospital 
recognized approximately $7,851,000 and $6,472,000 of expense during the years ended 
June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The estimated liability relating to self-funded health 
insurance was $725,000 and $400,000 as of June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
 
Litigations, Claims, and Disputes 

The Hospital is subject to the usual contingencies in the normal course of operations relating 
to the performance of its tasks under its various programs. In the opinion of management, 
the ultimate settlement of litigation, claims, and disputes in process will not be material to 
the combined financial position of the Hospital. 
 
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state, and 
local governments. Compliance with these laws and regulations, specifically those relating 
to the Medicare and Medicaid programs, can be subject to government review and 
interpretation, as well as regulatory actions unknown and unasserted at this time. Federal 
government activity has increased with respect to investigations and allegations concerning 
possible violations by health care providers of regulations, which could result in the 
imposition of significant fines and penalties, as well as significant repayments of previously 
billed and collected revenues from patient services. Management believes that the Hospital 
is in substantial compliance with current laws and regulations. 
 
 

DRAFT

101/173



 

(34) 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 
 
Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 
Rock Springs, Wyoming 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the combined financial statements of Memorial 
Hospital of Sweetwater County (the Hospital), which comprise the combined statement of net position 
as of June 30, 2022, and the related combined statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the combined financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated REPORT DATE. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the combined financial statements, we considered the 
Hospital’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
combined financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Hospital’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Hospital’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that were not identified. We identified a certain deficiency in internal control, described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings as item 2022-001 that we consider to be a material weakness.  
 

DRAFT

102/173



Board of Trustees 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County 

(35) 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Hospital’s combined financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the combined financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County’s Response to Findings 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Hospital’s 
response to the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings. 
The Hospital’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.  
 
Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Hospital’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Hospital’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 
REPORT DATE 
 DRAFT

103/173



MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY  
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 
 
 
 

(36) 

2022 – 001 
 
Type of Finding: Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

 
Condition: Material misstatements were detected during the course of the audit which required 
management to post adjusting journal entries to correct certain general ledger balances.  
 
Effect: Without these adjustments, the combined financial statements would have been materially 
misstated. Management is responsible for having controls in place to prevent or detect a material 
misstatement in a timely manner. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that management implement additional reviews to ensure material 
misstatements are prevented or detected in a timely manner throughout the year. 
 
Views of responsible officials and planned corrective actions: Management will review procedures 
in order to limit the number of adjusting journal entries necessary as part of the annual audit process. 
 

DRAFT

104/173



DRAFT

Status Draft PolicyStat ID 12055377 

Approved N/A 

Review Due N/A 

Document 
Area 

Human 
Resources 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

1. Employees cannot solicit or compete with the Hospital's services.  Outside work cannot be 
performed on the Hospital's time. Employees cannot use the Hospital's equipment, materials, 
resources, or inside information for outside work. 

2. Employee's must never use MHSC property or information for personal gain or personally take 
advantage of an opportunity that is discovered through their position with the Hospital. 

3. Employees should not solicit business or clients or perform outside work on the Hospital's 
premises. employees and their immediate family must be free of any significant investment or 
association with competitors or suppliers that might interfere or appear to interfere with 
Hospitals interests. 

4. Employees should not serve as a director, officer, partner, consultant, or in a managerial or 
technical capacity with an outside enterprise which does or is seeking to do business with or is 
a competitor of the Hospital. Exceptions to this can be approved by the Chief Executive Officer 
of MHSC. 

5. Employees should not act as a broker, finder, go-between or otherwise act for the benefit of a 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES- CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

The success of our hospital is dependent on the trust and confidence we earn from our employees, 
patients and community members. We gain credibility by adhering to our Mission, Vision and Values. 
Employees should avoid any situation which involves or may involve a conflict between their personal 
interest and the interest of the Hospital. Employees shall make prompt and full disclosure in writing to 
their manager of any potential situation which may involve a conflict of interest. 

Employees of MHSC must avoid any relationship or activity that might impair, or even appear to impair, 
the employee's ability to make objective and fair decisions when performing the employee's job. At 
times, employee's may be faced with situations where the business actions they take on behalf of MHSC 
may conflict with their own personal or family interests. Employee's owe a duty to MHSC to advance its 
legitimate interests when the opportunity to do so arises. 

Conflicts of Interest 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-CONFLICT OF INTEREST. Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12055377/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 1 of 2

105/173



DRAFT
Approval Signatures 

Step Description Approver Date 

third party in transactions involving or potentially involving the Hospital or its interests. 

6. Employees should avoid any other arrangements or circumstances, including family or other 
personal relationships, which might dissuade the employee from acting in the best interest of 
the hospital. 

MHSC Employees are required to review this policy and sign the attached Conflict of Interest 
Disclosure form at new employee orientation and each year on the anniversary of thier employement. 

Determining whether a conflict of interest exists is not always easy to do. Employees with a conflict of 
interest question should seek advice from management. Before engaging in any activity, transaction or 
relationship that might give rise to a conflict of interest, employees must seek review from their 
managers or the Compliance Officer. 

Link to form Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct declaration 

EMPLOYEE POLICIES-CONFLICT OF INTEREST. Retrieved 10/2022. Official copy at
http://sweetwatermemorial.policystat.com/policy/12055377/. Copyright © 2022 Memorial Hospital of Sweetwater County

Page 2 of 2

106/173



Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee Charter 
 
 Page 1 

 

Board Charter: Executive Oversight and Compensation 
Committee  

                                                                                                                                    
                                                                                          

Category: Board Committee & Committee Charters 
Title: Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee 
Original adoption: June 14, 2010 
Revision: 2017; June 3, 2020 
 
            
   
  

Purpose: 
 
The purpose of the Committee is to assist the Board of Trustees (Board) with 
discharging its fiduciary and oversight duties in respect to conducting oversight, 
evaluation, and compensation review, in accordance with Board’s Oversight and 
Compensation Policy, for the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and in respect to establishing 
the compensation range of other Chief Officers. 
 

Authority: 
 
The Committee has no express or implied power or authority. 
 

 
Responsibilities: 
 
In fulfilling its charge, the Committee is responsible for the following activities and 
functions: 

• Provides direction and oversight for the CEO evaluation process. 

• In conjunction with the full Board, meets monthly with the CEO to review 
progress toward meeting performance expectations and responses to 
unanticipated situations.  

o The secretary of the Committee shall document and maintain records of 
these proceeding. 

o Annually, the records will be summarized for Board approval, which then 
becomes the annual CEO evaluation. 
 

107/173



Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee Charter 
 
 Page 2 

 

• Recommends policies and processes to the Board for the regular and orderly 
review of the performance, compensation, and development of the CEO. The 
process shall include provisions for input from the full Board. 

• Develops, for Board approval, the job description for the CEO, including 
responsibilities, as well as education and experience requirements. 

• Monitors the contractual relationships between the Hospital and the CEO so that 
the charitable, tax-exempt mission of the Hospital is not jeopardized and the 
contractual provisions are in compliance with all Federal and State regulations. 

• Periodically reviews CEO compensation for reasonableness and competitiveness 
and, if appropriate, recommends to the Board changes in salary, benefits, and 
other forms of compensation for the hospital’s chief officers. 

• Directs the CEO to prepare and annually update a succession and management 
development plan for the CEO and other chief officers. These plans shall be 
reviewed by the Committee and subsequently presented to the Board of 
Trustees for review and 

• approval. 

 

Composition 
 
The Committee shall consist of two (2) members of the Board, one of whom is the 
President of the Board, who shall serve as chair. The other shall be the secretary of this 
committee. The Chief Executive Officer attends committee meetings by invitation. 
 

Meeting Schedule 
 
The Committee shall meet quarterly, or as needed. 
 

Reports  
 
The Committee will receive and review the following reports. 

• Data from independent sources on executive compensation for comparable 
positions in comparable organizations, when appropriate. 

•  Succession and Management Development Plans for the CEO and chief 

officers.The annual summary of the monthly performance review proceedings 
with the CEO, which summary shall be presented to the Board for approval 
before discussing the report with the CEO. 

108/173



109/173



110/173



111/173



1 
 

To: Board of Trustees 

From: Barbara J. Sowada, Chair 

Re: Quality Committee Meeting 

Date: October 19, 2022 

 

Major discussion items were as follows: 

 Dr. Poyer recognized Dr. Kattan for going the extra mile for his colleagues. Each month Dr. Poyer 

recognizes a physician for his/her extraordinary contribution to patient care. 

 Care Compare refresh was reviewed, showing MHSC has 3 Stars for HCAHPS at the end of Q3. 

Data includes Q1-3.  

o Patient experience continues to have some opportunities for improvement. New 

improvement activities include rounding on patient care units by COO and CNO and the 

upcoming workshop by Press Ganey for physicians.  

o The Overall Star Rating was refreshed July, 2022. At that time Star Rating for MHSC was 2 

stars. 

 Action items and due dates have been added to Control Charts narrative. Data is continuously 

being monitored, and, when needed, appropriate action is being taken.  

 The three quality priorities for FY 23 are: 1) Medication Safety, 2) Sepsis Bundle, and 3) HCAHPS 

scores. Data are trending in a positive direction for all three. Medication Safety is noticeably 

improved.  

 October 16 – October 22, was National Quality Week. Quality Department staff was recognized 

for their significant leadership toward advancing the Hospital’s quality and safety initiatives. They 

have much to be proud of.  

o To celebrate their work and the week, the meeting ended with the staff sharing their 

“why’s” and “joys” of working in the Quality Department.  

 

For more detail, see the reports and minutes of this meeting that are included in the November Board 

packet. 

 

Next Quality meeting will be November 16th. 

 

 

112/173



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Human Resources Committee Meeting Minutes - Draft 
Monday – October 17, 2022 
Zoom 
 
Trustee Members Present by Zoom: Kandi Pendleton, Barbara Sowada 
Voting Members Present by Zoom: Suzan Campbell, Amber Fisk, Irene Richardson 
Non-Voting Members & Guests Present by Zoom: Ann Marie Clevenger, Kari Quickenden, Shawn 
Bazzanella, Eddie Boggs, Amy Lucy, Ruthann Wolfe, Cindy Nelson 
 
 
Kandi called the meeting to order and welcomed everyone.   
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

The motion to approve the agenda as presented was made by Suzan, second by Barbara. Motion 
carried. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

The motion to approve the September meeting minutes was made by Barbara, second by Suzan. Motion 
carried. 
 
ROUTINE REPORTS 
 

Turnover 
 

Amber reviewed the turnover through the end of September. Barbara said she wants to see the 
percentage of turnover in the top four departments. Amber will begin including the total number in a 
third column and it will show the percentage of the department. The Committee discussed the purpose 
of showing the number for less than thirty days and agreed to continue reporting. Amber said Amy 
added the number of staff rehired from the Covid timeframe to the report. 
 
Open Positions 

 

Amy reviewed the open jobs and said there were currently 56 (42 full time, 5 part time, 9 PRN). Kandi 
asked for the timeframe between when an application is submitted and an applicant is contacted. 
Amber said rather quickly and said Shawn pulls all applications daily and forwards to managers. HR is 
only vetting for basic requirements. Amber said HR asks managers to respond within two weeks. She 
said every applicant is then notified.  
 
Contract Staffing 
 
Amber said we look at average rates nationally on a weekly basis and we are always negotiating rates. 
She said the pink coding on the report indicates no one is in the position currently. Amber said the job is 
posted, also open with our agencies, and not filled. The darker pink shade indicates we have contract 
staff who just ended in that assignment. Irene said contract staffing has come down and we are working 
to continually decrease.  
 
Employee Injury & Illness Reporting  
 
Amber said there is no update. 
 

113/173



 

Minutes of the October 17, 2022 Human Resources Committee 
Page 2 

OLD BUSINESS 

Employee Policies – Conflict of Interest 
 
Suzan reviewed. The motion to bring the policy forward to the Board for review at the November 
meeting was made by Barbara, second by Irene. Motion carried.   
 
Employee Policies – Workplace Violence Prevention Policy & Plan 
 
Suzan reviewed the policy and plan. She said this has been in the works for a long time. She said the 
update and plan align with what The Joint Commission requires. She said these documents would 
replace what is currently in Policy Stat. Barbara said she didn’t see any reference to weapons. Suzan will 
review. The Committee discussed safety committee design. Since there is additional work to do, the plan 
is not ready to be presented at this level. Barbara requested sending the information out as a Word 
document to review and make notes instead of a PDF file. The management team will continue working 
on the policy and plan. The Committee will revisit in November.   
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

Employee Engagement survey Timeline Update 
 
Amber reported we had a 68% participation rate. She said the preliminary survey results meeting is 
scheduled October 18. She plans to bring all information to the November meeting.  
 
Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting is scheduled November 21st.  
 
 

114/173



115/173



116/173



117/173



118/173



119/173



120/173



121/173



122/173



123/173



124/173



125/173



126/173



127/173



128/173



129/173



130/173



131/173



132/173



133/173



134/173



135/173



136/173



137/173



138/173



139/173



140/173



141/173



142/173



143/173



144/173



145/173



146/173



147/173



148/173



149/173



150/173



151/173



152/173



153/173



154/173



155/173



156/173



157/173



158/173



159/173



160/173



161/173



162/173



163/173



164/173



165/173



166/173



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Board of Trustees 
From:  Wm. Marty Kelsey 
Subject: Chair’s Report…October Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 
Date:  October 26, 2022 
 
Chemo Mixing Room…Design Development Plans and Specs should be ready by mid-December. 
At that time we should have a good, initial project cost estimate. S T & B is working on the 
ventilation design. Discussion occurred regarding the proposed floor layout. 
 
Dr. Sulentich Office…Construction is scheduled to occur between December 12th and mid-
January. 
 
Building Automation System…Vaughn’s has 15 more VAV boxes to install; Harris will be 
following up with their end of the work. Completion is anticipated by about Thanksgiving. 
 
Bulk Oxygen Project…work is slowly progressing. Coordination with the Joint Powers Water 
Board is occurring. For two days, water will be lost to the MOB due to water line work. Asphalt 
work will be moved to the Spring sometime due to project delays. 
 
Lightning Arrest System…This proposed project has been pushed back to spring, 2023. Cost 
proposal may be available by January 1st. If the cost comes in high, a thorough risk assessment 
must be done to determine if the project should or should not move forward. 
 
OB Showers Renovation…project is on hold for now. In early 2023, discussion will resume 
regarding how best to proceed. 
 
SLIB Projects…staff informed the Committee that the SLIB meeting has been moved back to 
November 9th. No further information available. 
 
Building & Grounds Annual Plan…Mr. Kelsey suggested that, in addition to an annual plan, that 
the MHSC staff begin working on a document that would identify some potential major 
maintenance or capital projects at the Hospital that could be considered and prioritized. 
Perhaps it would be prudent to look out 2-5 years as a framework for future short and medium 
term planning. 
 
As always, for further information, please refer to the meeting minutes. 

167/173



 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL OF SWEETWATER COUNTY 
Building and Grounds Committee Meeting 

October 24, 2022 

 
 

The Building and Grounds Committee met in regular session via Zoom on October 24, 2022, 

at 3:00 PM with Mr. Marty Kelsey presiding. 

 

In Attendance:  Mr. Marty Kelsey, Trustee - Chair 

   Mr. Ed Tardoni – Trustee 

   Ms. Irene Richardson, CEO 

Ms. Tami Love, CFO 

Mr. James Horan, Director of Facilities 

Mr. Gerry Johnston, Facilities Supervisor 

   Mr. Will Wheatley, PlanOne Architects 

 

 

Mr. Tardoni called the meeting to order. 

 

Mr. Tardoni asked for a motion to approve the agenda.  Ms. Richardson made a motion to approve 

the agenda.  Ms. Love seconded; motion passed. 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the September 22, 2022 meeting. Mr. 

Tardoni made a motion to approve the minutes.  Ms. Richardson seconded; motion passed.  

 

Maintenance Metrics 

 

Mr. Horan reviewed the metrics and said they are holding the course.  There has been some 

overtime due to being short staffed but salary expense is under budget.  Mr. Kelsey asked how 

many FTEs they were down.  Mr. Horan said the just filled two positions and there is still one 

position open.  Mr. Tardoni said the metrics look good and seem steady with the backlog staying 

the same. 

 

Old Business – Project Review 

 

Pharmacy Chemo Mixing Room  

 

Mr. Wheatley distributed the design schedule after receiving approval from staff on design layout.  

He is working with ST&B engineers on vertical ducting and routing through the floors.  He will 

have schematic drawings competed this month.  The plans will be sent to Department of Health 

and the Board of Pharmacy in November for review.  He is predicting we will be ready for public 

bids in January or February.  Mr. Kelsey asked if Mr.Tardoni’s emailed questions could be 

addressed.  Mr. Horan said the room and anteroom size, room pressurization, exhaust fans, outside 

exhausting and temperature are all reasons for making this project a priority.  Renovating the space 

in the same area would have been very expensive due to the need for a temporary mixing trailer 

so the group looked at other options.  There is also the issue of the new USP 800 requirement for 

filters at the ceiling level and the need to increase the space by 40% per the new regulations.  Mr. 

Tardoni said he has not seen any information on the exhaust plan.  Mr. Wheatley explained the 

current duct and the options they looked at. Mr. Kelsey asked about the schedule.  Mr. Wheatley 

said they would have detailed specs for bidding documents the first week of December with 

advertised bid going out in late December to early January.  Mr. Kelsey asked if we would have a 

168/173



 

 

Minutes of the October 24, 2022 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 2 

cost estimate by mid-December and Mr. Wheatley confirmed we should have something for 

approval at the December meeting.   

 

 Dr. Sulentich Office  

 

Mr. Wheatley met with Dr. Sulentich, his staff and the contractor to create the schedule.  The 

work will begin December 12 and will be completed by January 10.   

 

Building Automation System 

 

Mr. Johnston said Vaughn’s has 15 VAV’s left to install with Harris following behind to install 

the controls.  They are shooting for a completion date before Thanksgiving.  They are hoping to 

schedule a couple days to work in the Administration office this week as the work can be noisy 

and a disruption. 

 

Bulk Oxygen  

 

Kelsey asked about the progress as everything had been approve to move forward.  Mr. Johnston 

said he had a plan for a design so the MOB wouldn’t lose water for two days.  However, DEQ will 

need to approve if it is permanent.  He is working with the City of Rock Springs for a temporary 

option so we can get the project moving.  Mr. Tardoni said the water line is owned by the Joint 

Powers Water Board and is leased by the City.  Mr. Johnston said he will talk to the City about the 

operation.  Mr. Kelsey asked where we stand financially on this project.  The cost of the permanent 

option, which will be done inhouse is about $9,000.  Wylie is waiting for us to get the water ine in 

place so we don’t lose water for two days in the MOB.  Mr. Kelsey said it is fair to say the asphalt 

will be delayed to next spring.  Mr. Johnston said they will lay road base instead to get through the 

winter.   

 

Lightning Arrest System 

 

Mr. Horan said the potential contractor has received their UL certification needed for approval 

through OSHA.  They are working with the engineer for a comprehensive cost.  They are all 

committed to other projects right now but will have a cost to us by the end of the year.  This will 

push the project to the spring, which is before lighting season in July and August.  

 

OB Shower Renovation  

 

Mr. Horan said this project continues to be tabled.  Ms. Love said we will look at it again after the 

beginning of the year due to the expected number of births over the next several months.  We will 

reassess after the first of the year for financial concerns also. 

 

Tabled Projects   

 

No other table projects were discussed. 

 

 

  

 

169/173



 

 

Minutes of the October 24, 2022 Building & Grounds Committee 

Page 3 

Old Business - Other 

 

SLIB Projects 

 

Ms. Love said the SLIB committee has postponed the meeting until November 9th as they needed 

more time to review projects.  Mr. Kelsey asked if Administration will be attending the meetings 

in person.  Ms. Richardson said they are hoping to attend. 

 

Building and Grounds Annual Plan 

 

Mr. Kelsey asked if the annual plan could be expanded for all projects, looking at major 

maintenance projects over the next 2 to 3 years.  Mr. Horan said they would work on updating 

the plan with these additional projects.  Mr. Kelsey also asked if we could update the plan with 

timelines for the projects also.  Mr. Kelsey asked about the S2 tie in project that was approved at 

this meeting last month.  Ms. Love said there had been a question of capital versus operations.  It 

has been written up as a capital project but we are waiting on financials to make the decision to 

move the project to Finance & Audit and the Board for approval.  

  

 

New Business 

 

MOB Renovations 

 

Ms. Love shared some information on the need to relocate some offices out of a clinical area in 

the MOB that we plan on using for a new telepsych service.  The contract for this service will be 

going to the Board next week.  We are looking at renovating the existing MOB conference room 

into office space. We would also renovate one of the breakrooms on the second floor into a 

conference room.  We are getting prices for just the current conference room at this time and will 

review. 

 

Other 

 

The next meeting is scheduled for November 15, 2022.  It was agreed to change the meeting time 

for this committee to 3:00 pm.  Ms. Love will send out an updated calendar invite for everyone’s 

schedule. 
 

 

Submitted by Tami Love 

170/173



 
Minutes 

Governance Committee Meeting 

October 24, 2022 

Present: Barbara Sowada, Marty Kelsey, and Irene Richardson 

Call to Order: Barbara Sowada called the Zoom meeting to order at 2:00 pm 

Agenda was created during the meeting  

Minutes had been previously approved 

Old Business – None 

New Business 

1. Discussed attached document regarding 1) Talking Points for Board Orientation and 2) Talking Points for 

Board Recruitment. There is the potential to have to replace one board member per year for the next 

three years. 

a. Irene will assign staff member to draft a written document for board orientation.  

b. Draft will include points listed and will be given to board members at January, 2023, Board 

meeting for their response. 

c. Wyoming State Statute reviewed regarding appointment to Memorial hospitals’ boards. Statute 

states five-year terms; however, is silent on the number of terms a board member can be 

appointed. MHSC Board bylaws state board members may be appointed for 2, five-year terms. If 

the member is completing a term for someone else, the member is still eligible for 2, five-year 

terms of his/her own. Barbara will investigate whether County Commissioners bylaws discuss 

term limits for board members. 

 2. Iprotean education videos for November are Supply Chain: Mitigating Risk and Disruption Beyond the 

Pandemic. 

3. Brief discussion regarding “Think Tank” material Ed presented at October Board meeting; no action taken. 

Brief, discussion regarding physician recruitment in age of burnout, early retirement, and residency shortages; no 

action taken. 

The meeting was adjourned at 2:45 pm. 

Next meeting is Monday, November 21, 2022, at 2:00 pm by Zoom. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Barbara J. Sowada, Ph.D. 

171/173



Talking Points  

Re: Orientation and Recruitment 

 

Board Orientation Talking Points  

 Some kind of written packet would be helpful 

o List of common clinical and financial healthcare abbreviations and acronyms  

o Photos and names of employed physicians 

o Leadership team contact information 

o Contact information for Board, President of MEC, Board Attorney, and County 

Commissioners 

o Brief history of MHSC 

o Brief description of fiduciary duties of Board (obedience, care, loyalty) 

o List of committees and brief description 

o Names and brief bio of Board members, findable on website 

o Explanation of how to access Iprotean 

o WY State statute that governs Memorial hospitals. Don’t need full statute, just 

number. 

o Short reference regarding affiliation with University of Utah, including the 

services U of U brings here plus affiliation with HCI. 

 Opportunity to tour the hospital and meet with CEO and Senior Leadership 

 

Recruitment Talking Points 

 Engage Board and Senior Leaders in recruiting new members  

 Get Commissioner approval before initiating recruitment efforts 

o Visit with Chair of Commission around March, 2023, to determine their view re 

Board engaging in Commissioners recruiting efforts 

 Attempt to complement, not duplicate, existing members’ skills and experience 

 Recruits should not have an “agenda”  

 Consider creating “pipeline” using Foundation and/or Patient Advisory Committee as 

recruiting pools 

 

 

 

172/173



 
Minutes 

Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee Meeting 

October 18, 2022 

By Zoom 

Present: Barbara Sowada, Taylor Jones, and Irene Richardson 

Call to Order: Barbara called the Zoom meeting to order at 3:00 pm 

Agenda was created during the meeting  

Minutes – First meeting of the Committee; therefore, no minutes of previous meeting 

New Business 

1. Committee charter was reviewed and revised. Is ready to be presented at November BOT meeting. 

meeting was adjourned at 3:00 pm. 

Next meeting is to be determined. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Barbara J. Sowada, Ph.D. 

173/173


	Agenda - November 2 2022 Mtg
	Our Mission and Vision
	Minutes
	Professional Practice Review Plan
	2022 Audit Results and Report to the Board of Directors Board Packet 10.28.2022
	Draft Financial Statements 10.28.2022
	Employee Policies – Conflict of Interest
	Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee.Oct2022 Charter Update
	Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee.Oct2022 Charter Update red line
	Quality Committee
	Human Resources Committee
	I.S. Report
	Finance &amp; Audit Committee Meeting Information
	Building and Grounds...Chair&apos;s Report...October 2022
	Building and Grounds Comm Minutes October 24 2022 Draft Tami Love
	Governance Minutes oct 24 2022 Barbara Sowada
	Talking points for Board of Trustees recruitment and orientation 2022
	Executive Oversight and Compensation Committee

